

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search
http://ageconsearch.umn.edu
aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.

United States
Department of
Agriculture



Economic Research Service

Food Assistance and Nutrition Research Report Number 19-2



Effects of Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs on Nutrition and Health Volume 2, Data Sources

Christopher Logan Mary Kay Fox Biing-Hwan Lin



Food Assistance & Nutrition Research Program

Effects of Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs on Nutrition and Health: Volume II, Data Sources. By Christopher Logan and Mary Kay Fox of Abt Associates Inc., and Biing-Hwan Lin, Food and Rural Economics Division, Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Food Assistance and Nutrition Research Report No. 19-2.

Abstract

This is the second of four reports completed by Abt Associates Inc., under the contract "The Nutrition and Health Outcome Study." This report is an evaluation of various data sources for their potential for analyzing the impacts of USDA's food assistance and nutrition programs (FANPs). Data sources are evaluated against three criteria: coverage of both program participants and nonparticipants; identification of participants and determination of eligibility among nonparticipants; and availability of impact measures. Each data source is classified into one of four categories: principal, potential, recognized, and insufficient. Principal and potential sources are discussed and profiled in this report.

Key words: USDA Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs, data sources, program participation, nutrition outcomes, health outcomes.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to recognize the numerous staff members of Abt Associates who provided valuable assistance. Simon Cohen, Nike Griffin, Tina Mello, Bill O'Brien, and Manuel Orejuela collected documentation and summarized data sources. William (Chris) Hamilton provided helpful technical review. Eileen Fahey provided steadfast production support. The report also benefited greatly from insightful comments and suggestions from many reviewers at USDA, including Alanna Moshfegh at Agricultural Research Service; David Smallwood, Margaret Andrews, and Joanne Guthrie at Economic Research Service; and Patricia McKinney and Steve Carlson at Food and Nutrition Service.

Contents

Summary	iv
Introduction	1
Identifying Data Sources for Review	1
Completing Initial Utility Assessments	
Categorizing the Relevance of Data Sources	
Principal Data Sources	3
Overview of Principal Sources	
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES): Interview and Diary Surveys.	
Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII 1994-96, 1998)	
Current Population Survey (CPS) Food Security Supplement	
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Cohort	
(ECLS-K)	
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS, 1996-97)	10
Third Round (NHANES-III)	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1979 Cohort (NLSY79)	12
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mother and Child	
Supplements (NLSY-MC) and National Longitudinal Survey	
of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)	12
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	13
Panel Study of Income Dynamics and Child Development	
Supplement (PSID-CDS)	14
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)	15
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	16
Information on FANP Participation	17
FSP Participation	
WIC Participation	19
NSLP Participation	19
SBP Participation	22
Participation in Other FANPs	22
Data on Nutrition- and Health-Related Measures	22
Food Expenditures and Intake	
Food Sufficiency	
Physical and Biochemical Measures	
Birth Outcomes	
Health Behaviors	
Health Status and Other Health-Related Variables	
Physical, Cognitive, and Emotional Status/Performance	
Filysical, Cognitive, and Emotional Status/Ferrormance	30
Potential Data Sources	30
Sources With Poor Match Between Program and Outcome Data	30
Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)	32
Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)	32
National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)	33
National Household Education Survey (NHES)	

National Longitudinal Study of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)	
Sources With Limited Populations	
Second Cohort (CCDP2)	
Health and Retirement Study (HRS)	
National Immunization Survey (NIS)	
Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)	39
Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the	20
Oldest Old (AHEAD)	35
Sources With No Information on FANP Participation	40
Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)	
National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)	40
References	43
Appendix A—Insufficient Data Sources	45
Appendix B—Profiles of Principal and Potential Data Sources	48
List of Tables	
Table 1—Recognized data sources	.4
Table 2—Summary of key data elements in principal data sources	.5
Table 3—Information available on food stamp program participation	18
Table 4—Information available on WIC participation	20
Table 5—Information available on NSLP participation	21
Table 6—Information available on SBP participation	23
Table 7—Available information on food expenditures and intake	25
Table 8—Information available on food sufficiency and hunger	26
Table 9—Information available on nutrition- and health-related outcomes2	28
Table 10—Information available on behavioral, developmental, and performance-related outcomes	29
Table 11—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources with poor match between program data and nutrition/health measures	31
Table 12—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources that have limited populations	36
Table 13—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources that have no information on FANP participation	41

Summary

Since the mid-1940s, the United States Government has committed to alleviating hunger and the consequences of inadequate dietary intake. Today, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) implements 15 programs as a "food safety net," to provide low-income people with food or the means to purchase food. These 15 food assistance and nutrition programs (FANPs) were funded at a level of \$34.1 billion in fiscal year (FY) 2001.

Under contract with the Economic Research Service of USDA, Abt Associates Inc. has conducted a study to review the state of current knowledge about FANP impacts on nutrition- and health-related outcomes. A thorough literature review was conducted to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of research design, analytical methods, and data sources employed to analyze FANP outcomes. A series of four reports has been prepared to document what we know and do not know about FANP outcomes and to identify future research needs.

This report, the second of the four reports, documents available data sources. A thorough search was conducted to identify data sources of relevance to FANP-related research. The FANPs of interest in this report are the Food Stamp Program (FSP), the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), and the School Breakfast Program (SBP).

Each data source was evaluated against three criteria:

- coverage of both program participants and eligible nonparticipants for at least one of the FANPs;
- identification of program participation status and sufficient information to determine eligibility for nonparticipants; and
- nutrition- or health-related measures that might be useful in studying program impacts or in describing relevant characteristics of program participants and nonparticipants.

Using these criteria, each data source was assigned to one of four categories with current and potential usefulness for FANP research, as follows:

Principal Sources. This category includes existing databases that appear to have the greatest potential for conducting research on FANP outcomes. These data sources meet all three of the criteria noted above and, in some cases, provide the only or best source of data for a given outcome. The principal sources have undergone the most detailed of the assessments for this report.

Potential Sources. The sources in this category are less useful than the principal sources because they cover limited populations, have a critical gap in participation information, or include outcome measures that, by comparison, are weaker than those available in the principal sources. Many of the potential sources are ongoing data collection programs that could be made more useful for future FANP research if questions were incorporated to fill gaps in relevant information.

Recognized Sources. This category includes existing databases that have already been used to evaluate one or more of the FANPs. The sources are either dated or have not been expanded since initial analyses were conducted, so additional analyses of them may not be warranted.

Insufficient Sources. Data sources in this category were judged to have very little potential for evaluating outcomes of FANPs, so detailed assessments were not completed.

In all, 26 data sources were classified into the 2 categories offering clear potential for FANP-related research, namely, principal and potential sources. (There are 13 principal sources and 13 potential sources.) In this report, key FANP-related data for each of the 26 data sources are discussed in detail. In addition, each of them is profiled by listing information on purpose of the research, sponsoring organization/agency, data collection timeline, population covered, sampling design, FANPs for which participation is identified, nutrition- and health-related data, demographic data, and data availability.

Effects of Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs on Nutrition and Health: Volume II, Data Sources

Christopher Logan, Mary Kay Fox, and Biing-Hwan Lin

Introduction

The Nutrition and Health Outcomes Study is being carried out by Abt Associates Inc., under contract with the Economic Research Service (ERS) of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA). One goal of the study was to assess the potential for using available and future data sources in evaluating the impact of USDA's food assistance and nutrition programs (FANPs) on nutrition- and health-related outcomes. The FANPs of interest are the Food Stamp Program (FSP), the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), and the School Breakfast Program (SBP). The information presented in this report is an inventory of data sources that can be used as a foundation for future FANP-related research.

This report presents assessments of data sources of potential interest to researchers in ERS and elsewhere and identifies those most worthy of future investigation. The report focuses exclusively on documenting what is available in extant data sources or expected to be available through ongoing data collection programs. No attempt has been made to define or recommend, in more than a general way, analyses that could be completed with the available data. Moreover, it should be noted that, in describing available data, we assumed that researchers may be interested in using these data sources for exploratory or descriptive analyses as well as impact analyses. Consequently, we cast a very wide net in identifying potentially interesting variables. For example, we documented the availability of measures of cognitive and emotional status and performance.

A caveat to using any of the available data sources to measure program impacts is that such analyses are likely to be subject to selection bias, although the analysis may be specifically structured to address this problem. As emphasized in the first report prepared under this contract, statistical adjustments may be used to deal with the problem of selection bias, but one can never be certain that bias has been successfully removed (Hamilton and Rossi, 2001).

The report is divided into three sections. The rest of this introductory section provides a brief overview of the approach used to identify the data sources we examined, as well as a description of the methods used to obtain and compile the information for assessing the usefulness of each source. Subsequent sections describe and compare the principal and potential data sources.

Identifying Data Sources for Review

Identification and review of data sources were conducted mainly in mid-1999, but information known to be in flux was updated periodically until this report was finalized. The search assumed that the ideal source would combine the following characteristics:

- coverage of both program participants and eligible nonparticipants for at least one of the programs in FANPs;¹
- identification of program participation status and sufficient information to determine eligibility for nonparticipants; and

¹ Some approaches to evaluating program impacts do not require data on nonparticipants (e.g., dose-response models), but the most useful sources have such data. See Hamilton and Rossi (2001) for further discussion.

 nutrition- or health-related measures that might be useful in studying program impacts or in describing characteristics of program participants and nonparticipants.

To compile a comprehensive inventory of available data, we cast a wide net in identifying potentially useful variables for FANP research.

The search considered available databases that might meet all of these criteria, as well as ongoing or planned data collection programs that could do so in the future. Development of the list of potential data sources began with the data sources used in the National Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research Program (NNMRRP) (Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB), 1995). Additional sources were identified through a careful review of major database references, as well as through searches of World Wide Web sites of government agencies and other research organizations known to collect nutrition- and/or health-related data. To ensure relevance to the current policy and program environment, databases that included only data collected before 1990 were not considered for review.

Recently, the Interagency Board for Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research (IBNMRR, 2000) compiled a list of surveys, studies, and databases that contain data on (1) nutrition- and health-related measurements, (2) food and nutrient consumption, (3) knowledge, attitudes, and behavior assessments, (4) food composition and nutrition databases, (5) food supply determinations, and (6) nutrition monitoring activities in the States. This document was not reviewed in detail, but a preliminary check (as well as the authors' and reviewers' knowledge) suggested that no important sources have been overlooked. Many of the surveys listed in the IBNMRR report are not reviewed here because they do not meet the aforementioned criteria, but they may contain data useful for research pertaining to nutrition, diet, and health.

Completing Initial Utility Assessments

A standard profile form was used to document each data source. The profile included the following information:

- purpose of research,
- sponsoring organization/agency,

- data collection timeline (beginning and end dates),
- population covered,
- sampling design,
- FANPs for which participation is identified,
- nutrition- and health-related data,
- demographic data,
- data availability, and
- purchasing/ordering contact and costs.

For the most promising sources, FANP participation variables and nutrition and health measures were documented in more detail.

Information on the characteristics of each data source was obtained from the first volume of the Third Report on Nutrition Monitoring in the United States (FASEB, 1995); searches of World Wide Web sites; and telephone and mail communication with sponsoring agencies and organizations. Copies of survey questionnaires and associated documentation were obtained from the World Wide Web, Abt Associates' in-house resources, or the data repository for the source.

Categorizing the Relevance of Data Sources

As noted, it was assumed that the ideal data source for FANP research would include coverage of both program participants and eligible nonparticipants for at least one FANP; identification of program participation status and sufficient information to determine eligibility for nonparticipants; and potentially useful nutritionand/or health-related measures.

Using these criteria, each data source was assigned to one of four categories reflecting current and potential usefulness for FANP research, described below.

Principal Sources

This category includes existing databases that appear to have the greatest potential for conducting FANP research. They meet all three of the criteria noted above and, in some cases, provide the best or only source of data for a given outcome. All but one of the principal data sources are recurrent data collection programs, offering opportunity for historical analyses, and several are longitudinal in design. The principal sources have undergone the most detailed of the assessments for this report.

Potential Sources

The data sources in this category are less useful than the principal sources because they cover limited populations, have a critical gap in participation information (for example, they include birth outcome measures but not information on WIC participation), or include outcome measures that, by comparison, are weaker than those available in the principal sources. (Some potential sources have limitations in two or more of these areas.) Many of these sources are ongoing data collection programs that could be made more useful for future FANP research if questions were incorporated to fill gaps in relevant information.

Recognized Sources

This category includes existing databases that have already been used to evaluate one or more of the FANPs. These sources are either dated (including only pre-1990 data) or have not been expanded since their initial analyses were conducted, so it is unlikely that additional analyses are warranted. Recognized sources are listed in table 1.

Insufficient Sources

Data sources assigned to this category were not considered candidates for future analyses and detailed assessments were not completed. Although many of these sources include relevant data, they were judged to have very little potential for evaluating outcomes of FANPs. Sources were classified as insufficient for having one or more of the following drawbacks:

- including only pre-1990 data;
- having limited or nonexistent measures of interest (program participation and/or outcomes), with the gaps either impossible to fill (extant databases) or unlikely to be rectified (narrowly focused ongoing data collection program);
- including a very limited population (descriptive studies of program participants are in this category);
- being proprietary; or
- being an administrative database that would require a complex linkage to another data source to combine information on program participation and outcomes.

A list of insufficient data sources is given in Appendix A.

It should be noted that the classification of administrative databases as insufficient is based on the purposes of this study. Nevertheless, these data sources can be merged with other databases that provide information on program participation. A good example is the WIC-Medicaid database constructed for USDA's Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) in the late 1980s (Devaney et al., 1991).

The next sections provide detailed descriptions of principal and potential data sources, respectively. A detailed profile of each source is provided in Appendix B.

Principal Data Sources

The data sources described in this section are currently available datasets that can be used to examine the effects of FANPs on nutrition and health outcomes. Each source meets the minimum requirements described in the preceding section. In addition, all but two of the principal data sources are ongoing national data collection programs that are updated on a regular schedule, allowing update of any analyses as subsequent data become available.² The recurring nature of these data collection programs also provides the opportunity for future expansion of program participation information and/or nutrition and health outcome measures. Some data collection programs have been in progress for some time, offering the potential for longitudinal analyses at the aggregate or individual level. Finally, some of the principal data sources represent the best or only source of information for certain outcomes of interest.

Table 2 summarizes key characteristics of the principal data sources. Sources are listed in alphabetical order, by title. The table shows the major FANPs for which participation information is available and the broad categories of nutrition- and health-related measures that are available.³ It also provides the time period for

² As discussed later in this section, two of the principal sources have been combined into a single ongoing program since the most recent available data were collected.

³ Table 2 focuses on participation data for the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children Program (WIC), the Food Stamp Program (FSP), the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), and the School Breakfast Program (SBP). These are the four FANPs most often identified in major surveys. Available participation data for other FANPs (quite limited by comparison) are discussed in the text.

Table 1—Recognized data sources

Bogalusa Heart Study

Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health

Food Stamp Program Cash-Out Evaluations

National Evaluation of the Elderly Nutrition Program

National Maternal and Infant Health Survey

National Maternal and Infant Health Survey, Longitudinal Followup

Nationwide Food Consumption Survey (NFCS)

School Nutrition Dietary Assessment Study (SNDA-I)

WIC-Medicaid Database

Table 2—Summary of key data elements in principal data sources

	FANPs identified						Nutrition- and health-related measures available ¹							
Data source	Latest year available*	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Food expend- itures	Food/ nutrient intake	Food sufficiency/ hunger	Physical/ biochemical measures	Birth outcomes	Health- related behaviors ²	Health status/care ³	Physical/ cognitive/ emotional status or performance ⁴	
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys	1999		✓	√ 5	√ 5	✓						✓		
Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	1994-96, 1998	✓	✓	✓	√	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)	1999	✓	√	✓	√	✓		✓				✓		
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)	1998-99	✓	✓	✓	√			✓	✓	√	✓	✓	√	
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	1996-97	✓	√	✓	√	✓	√ 6	✓			✓	✓		
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	1988-94	✓	✓	✓	√		✓	✓	✓	√	√	✓	√	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)	1999	✓	√			✓	√		✓	√	✓	√	✓	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)	1998	✓	✓			✓	√		✓	✓	✓	✓	√	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)	1998	✓	✓				√		✓	✓	✓	√	✓	
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	1999	✓	✓	✓	✓			✓				✓	✓	
Panel Study of Income Dynamics- Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	1997	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)	2000	✓	✓	✓	✓			✓				✓	✓	
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	1998	✓	✓	✓		✓		✓			✓	✓	✓	

¹See text for definitions and outcome categories.

²Includes breastfeeding, immunization, and other health-related behaviors.

³Includes medical conditions related to nutrition, general health status, and health care utilization/expenses.

⁴Includes physical development/performance, cognitive development/performance, emotional/social development/health, school attendance/performance.

⁵Identifies participants in school lunch or breakfast program, treating the two programs as a program rather two separate programs.

⁶Household food use and availability of nutrients are reported using a 7-day household food use record.

^{*}As of 12/21/01.

the most recent data. Tables and text presented later in this section give more detailed information on the specific measures within each of the broad categories shown in table 2.

Overview of Principal Sources

The following pages describe each of the principal sources and the kinds of data they provide. Sources are reviewed in alphabetical order, as they appear in table 2. Following these individual descriptions, separate sections describe the information on FANP participation and specific nutrition- and health-related measures available in each source.

Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES): Interview and Diary Surveys

The CES are a continuing series of studies on all types of expenditures by consumers, ranging from food and other expendable items to major purchases of durable goods and housing expenses. The objectives of the CES are "to provide the basis for revising the weights and associated pricing samples for the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and to meet the need for timely and detailed information on the spending patterns of different types of families." The Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), U.S. Department of Labor, has overall responsibility for the CES, and the Bureau of the Census, U.S. Department of Commerce, performs the data collection and initial processing under contract with the BLS.

The current version of the CES began in 1979, after a series of less frequent consumer expenditure surveys. The CES has two separate components: the quarterly Interview Survey and the annual Diary Survey. The Interview Survey gathers detailed quarterly data on large and regularly occurring expenditures, employment, and household income (including food stamp benefits and public assistance). One potentially useful component is the series of items on out-of-pocket health care expenditures and health insurance premiums. This survey also collects global estimates of food and other frequent, variable expenses; these estimates include the frequency and average price of school meals purchased by or for children in the

For the Diary Survey, which has an independent sample, each consumer unit (household) completes a diary for 2 consecutive weeks, providing detailed, item-level records of expenditures on food and beverages (at home and away) and on other small, frequent purchases for which a quarterly recall is likely to be inaccurate (such as nonprescription drugs). A Census interviewer collects information from each Diary Survey household on household composition and on individual characteristics, including age, sex, race, marital status, work experience, annual earnings, and annual income from public assistance, food stamp benefits, and other nonearned sources. Since the Diary and Interview Surveys involve separate samples, data from these surveys cannot be combined at the household level, but it can be combined at higher levels, such as for demographic characteristics.

The Consumer Expenditure Survey uses a multistage, nationally representative probability sample of civilian noninstitutionalized households. The sample of households is selected within 101 primary sampling units (PSUs), which are counties, parts of counties, or independent cities. The main sample frame is the most recent Census 100-percent detail file, which is updated with new construction permits. For the Diary Survey, 8,020 addresses are selected annually in order to yield an effective sample of 5,870 households. The Diary Survey response rate in 1994 was 81 percent. For the Interview Survey, 8,910 addresses are contacted each quarter, with one-fifth being new to the sample. The effective sample size is targeted at 6,160; this figure excludes households in the first quarter of participation, for whom the expenditure data are collected for bounding purposes. The 1994 Interview Survey had a response rate of 83 percent.

The CES has few measures related to nutrition or health, but the food expenditure data it provides are of potential interest. With the discontinuation of USDA's Nationwide Food Consumption Survey, the CES is the

household.⁵ Each sampled household participates for five consecutive quarters, with one-time questions on household composition, demographics, and certain types of income (such as alimony and child support).

⁴ U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (1997). BLS Handbook of Methods, p. 161.

⁵ The Interview Survey does not differentiate between school lunches and breakfasts, so this source cannot be used to assess discrete impacts for the NSLP or SBP. It could be used, however, to study overall "school-based" Child Nutrition programs. The same type of information is collected in the Diary survey using a 30-day reference period.

most comprehensive ongoing source of information about how much low-income families spend for food and what they purchase, although the National Food Stamp Program Survey also provides data on this topic, as discussed later in this section.

Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII 1994-96, 1998)

The CSFII 1994-96, 1998, conducted by the Agricultural Research Service (ARS), was USDA's 10th nationwide food consumption survey and the 6th to include information on individual dietary intake. The survey was designed to measure the kinds and amounts of foods eaten by a nationally representative sample of noninstitutionalized individuals of all ages in the 50 States and Washington, DC.

Dietary intake was measured through two nonconsecutive 24-hour recalls. In addition to detailed dietary recalls, the survey included a nonquantitative food frequency table, questions about food sufficiency and breastfeeding, and self-reported height, weight, and general health status. Finally, the CSFII included questions about individual household members' participation in the FSP, WIC, NSLP, and SBP.

The sample design used for the 1994-96 CSFII is a stratified, multistage area probability sample. Households were screened to identify appropriate numbers of sample persons in specified sex/age groups, with oversampling of households at or below 130 percent of the Federal poverty guidelines.

In all, 19,830 sample persons were identified through screening over the 3 years of the survey (1994-96). At households where one or more sample persons were selected, interviewers administered the household questionnaire. This interview included individual-level data on FANP participation for each household member. Any adult household member was an acceptable respondent for the household interview, but an effort was made to conduct this part of the survey with the main meal planner/preparer or a person knowledgeable about characteristics such as household income. Approximately 85 percent of the households that were screened responded to this interview. Interviewers then attempted to conduct the first 24-

hour recall interviews with sample persons/proxies (making repeated in-person visits, when necessary, to do so). The protocol for the 24-hour recall in the CSFII did not allow interviewers to schedule appointments with respondents for followup attempts and day-2 intake interviews after the first scheduled interview; it was believed that respondents' eating behavior might be influenced if they knew when they would be asked to report what they had eaten. The second dietary recall was to be conducted 3 to 10 days after the first. Both recall interviews used identical methodology, including a "multiple pass" method to maximize the sample person's ability to remember what he or she had consumed. The overall response rate for the first recalls was 80 percent; for the second recalls it was 76 percent.

In addition to the CSFII, USDA also conducted the Diet and Health Knowledge Survey (DHKS) among a random sample of the CSFII respondents who completed the day-1 intake and were age 20 and over. When USDA added the DHKS to the CSFII in 1989-91, the DHKS was the first national survey of dietary attitudes and knowledge in which the results could be linked to the respondents' food and nutrient intakes. The DHKS provides information on respondents' perceived adequacy of their food and nutrient intakes, their knowledge about the recommendations in the Food Guide Pyramid (USDA, 1992), the personal importance they place on dietary guidance messages, their awareness of relationships between diet and health, and their use and understanding of food labels. Data from the DHKS are used to improve understanding of factors that affect food intake and to identify ways to implement effective dietary guidance. The DHKS was conducted mainly as a telephone survey, with 5,765 respondents completing it, a response rate of 74 percent, in 1994-96.

A supplemental survey of a sample of 5,559 children up to the age of 9 was completed in 1998. This survey (CSFII 1998) used the same methods as the CSFII 1994-96 and obtained the same food and nutrient intake data. The supplemental sample was added to provide an adequate sample of children for analyzing exposure to pesticide residues. However, the combined CSFII 1994-96 and 1998 data on children's food and nutrient intakes will also be useful for analyses of children's nutritional and health status.

⁶ In 2000, a decision was made to merge the CSFII and the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). The CSFII dietary recall instrument and data processing system will become part of the NHANES protocol.

Starting in 2002, the CSFII will be integrated with the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), as discussed in the section on NHANES.

Current Population Survey (CPS) Food Security Supplement

The CPS is a continuing monthly household survey of the U.S. civilian noninstitutionalized population, designed to provide updates of population, demographic, and labor force data, including uniform national data on employment and unemployment rates. This survey has been conducted by the BLS for over 50 years. The monthly CPS uses a multiframe, multistage stratified random sample of approximately 60,000 households, designed to produce reliable State estimates on an annual basis for items in the basic monthly questionnaire. The sample is divided into eight panels or rotation groups. Each rotation group is interviewed for 4 consecutive months, is out of sample for the next 8 months, and then is interviewed for 4 additional months before being retired from the survey. Therefore, there is approximately a 75-percent overlap of sample from month to month. Each time a household enters (or reenters) the sample, the CPS interview is conducted in person; at other times, telephone interviews are conducted if possible. The basic monthly CPS has no FANP participation or nutrition/health outcome data.

Various supplements to the CPS are collected annually or on other schedules. The Annual Demographic Supplement (ADS), conducted in person every March, collects information on income, public assistance, and FANP participation in the prior calendar year. The ADS also gathers data on educational attainment and geographic mobility, and it provides the basis for annual profiles of the U.S. population. The March CPS sample for the ADS is supplemented by approximately 2,500 Hispanic households from the previous November sample, who are out of the current CPS sample. (Other supplemental topics collected on various schedules include school enrollment, fertility, and marital history.)

The CPS is the principal source for data on food security among FANP participants and nonparticipants. In April 1995, the Census Bureau administered the first annual Food Security Supplement (FSS) to the CPS. The FSS, which was developed by USDA and other Federal agencies, comprised two related series of questions about food

sufficiency, hunger or skipping meals, and coping strategies when food supplies available through usual means were insufficient. One set of questions used a 12-month reference period, while the other used a 30-day period. Through a statistical modeling process, the 12-month series was used to develop a continuous scale of food insecurity and hunger (Hamilton et al., 1997). Eighteen questions are used to construct this scale; these questions have been included in annual CPS-FSS data collection from 1996 through the present.

The CPS-FSS also includes questions on program participation (WIC, FSP, NSLP, and SBP) and other important household characteristics not covered by the regular monthly CPS.⁸ Screening questions are used to exclude households with incomes above 185 percent of the poverty level, except for those that indicate possible food insecurity through responses to screening questions. The FSS obtains self-reported data on household food expenditures and general health status of adult respondents.

The CPS-FSS data for 1996-97 have been analyzed under a contract to FNS, and the 1998 data have been analyzed by ERS. Preliminary results from these analyses have been published by FNS (Bickel et al., 1999) and ERS (Andrews et al., 2000). These results indicate that the food security scale is stable and robust. ERS has also funded a study to test the food security measure in a sample of low-income households in Hawaii.⁹

Although USDA has already committed considerable resources to analyzing the available CPS-FSS data, it is considered a principal source of the information needed to examine the relationship between food security and FANP participation (single or multiple programs). Moreover, the sample overlap between the

⁷ The 30-day items were used to construct another scale, but this scale was not considered sufficiently robust for further use.

⁸ The CPS-FSS also identifies preschoolers and children in childcare who receive free or reduced price meals. The qualification of free or reduced-price meals clearly identifies low-income FANP participants; however, it is not possible to tell whether meals are provided by the NSLP (preschools or childcare associated with NSLP schools) or the Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP)(other childcare institutions). Moreover, because children participating in the CACFP through family childcare homes are not means tested, the question would fail to identify these children.

⁹ Jennifer Anderson, "Independent Validation of the Core Food Security Measure with Asian and Pacific Islanders," research in progress at Colorado State University, under a USDA-ERS small grant through Institute for Research on Poverty.

April FSS and the March ADS provides additional opportunities for analysis.

Use of the CPS-FSS is subject to several caveats. First, although the response rate for the basic CPS is quite high (around 95 percent) and the sample frame is of very high quality, coverage rates for some demographic groups (especially Blacks under the age of 40) fall below 85 percent. Second, the effective response rate for the 1995 FSS was only 77 percent. Third, the CPS does not include homeless persons, who may represent the population relying most on food stamps and other benefits to avoid hunger (particularly homeless adults without dependents). Fourth, the analytic literature suggests that the CPS has tended to understate FSP participation rates, based on comparisons with estimates derived from the SIPP and administrative data, although the 1994 redesign of the CPS may have reduced this bias (Castner and Cody, 1999).

Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)

The ECLS is designed to collect nationally representative data on the status and development of young children and on their family, school, and community environments. The primary focus of this study is on the child's educational progress and experience, including transition to nonparental care, preschool education, preparedness for school, and experiences and growth through the fifth grade. The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) has undertaken this study with the goal of creating a "comprehensive and reliable data set that can be used to inform policies related to early and middle childhood education" (NCES, 1999). The study is designed (1) to provide reliable descriptive data on children from birth through the fifth grade and (2) to support analytic tests of hypotheses about the relationships between children's developmental experiences, their individual characteristics, and the characteristics of their families, schools, and communities.

The ECLS will follow two cohorts of children, kindergarten and birth, for several years. The study has begun collecting data on the kindergarten cohort (ECLS-K), a nationally representative sample of about 22,000 children who entered kindergarten during the 1998-99 school year. According to current plans, this

cohort will be followed through the fifth grade in 2004. In 1999 and 2000, field tests were conducted for the study of the birth cohort (ECLS-B). According to available plans for the study, ECLS-B will include a nationally representative sample of 15,000 children born in 2001 and will follow the children through the first grade (NCES, 2001). The ECLS-B instruments are currently undergoing revisions to address problems encountered in the field tests, and the available information is limited. Therefore, only the ECLS-K is clearly a principal source that is available and useful for FANP research. Nevertheless, if current plans are realized, the ECLS-B will likely have considerable search value, particularly with respect to FANP impacts on the development of infants and toddlers.

The ECLS-K uses a multistage design with sampling of PSUs, schools, and students. Asian and Pacific Islander children were oversampled to provide a sufficient sample for analysis, as were private schools and kindergartens. The study is designed to support estimates for Black, Hispanic, and White children without oversampling.

ECLS-K baseline data were collected from children, parents, and teachers in the fall of 1998, when the cohort entered kindergarten. Data were collected again from these three groups and from the schools in the spring of 1999.¹¹ In the fall of 1999 (the start of the first grade year for children who leave kindergarten), data were collected from a subsample of children and their parents. Data from the full sample of children, parents, teachers, and schools were collected in the spring of 2000 and will be repeated in the spring of 2002 and of 2004 (that is, near the end of first, third, and fifth grades for children who progress each year). Child assessments are being done in school via computer-assisted personal interview (CAPI); Spanishspeaking children not proficient in English are being assessed in Spanish. Parent interviews are being done by computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) or, for households without telephones, by CAPI.

¹⁰ Current plans for the ECLS-B call for collection of data on pregnancy and birth outcomes; breastfeeding and other infant feeding practices; food security; height, weight and other body measurements; early childhood health status; and cognitive, social, emotional, and physical development.

¹¹ Data for the base year of ECLS-K (fall and spring kindergarten) were released in December 2000.

Results from the 1998-99 school year data collection suggest some potential problems with response rates. Only 69 percent of the 1,277 sampled schools participated in the fall, but the response rate for these schools increased to 74 percent in the spring, and 73 substitute schools were added to increase the spring sample (West, Denton, and Reaney, 2000). Cooperation rates for child assessments, parent interviews, and teacher questionnaires were quite high (between 85 and 90 percent), but the school nonresponse rates drove down the effective response rates to levels that might be cause for concern (66 percent for the child assessments and 63 percent for parent interviews). NCES asserts that the response rates are comparable to its other school-based longitudinal studies. NCES is currently conducting a multifaceted analysis of potential nonresponse bias.

ECLS-K data of particular interest include participation in FANPs and a wealth of developmental outcomes related to nutrition and health. FANP participation data will include WIC participation for the mother and child, household food stamp participation, and the child's participation in NSLP, SBP, and snacks provided in childcare.

The ECLS-K will provide the opportunity to relate program participation by children and their families to objective measures of the child's well-being and development, as well as to educational and social outcomes. Key nutrition- and health-related measures include food security, eating patterns, height and weight, birth outcomes, health-related behaviors, general health status, measures of physical, cognitive, and social/emotional development, and school performance. In addition, the ECLS-K will collect a considerable array of demographic and contextual information on the children, their parents or guardians, their teachers and schools, and their communities.

National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS, 1996-97)

The NFSPS was conducted under contract to USDA's Food and Nutrition Service between June 1996 and January 1997. Among the principal data sources, the NFSPS is the only one-time survey. The survey examined the monetary and nonmonetary costs of participating in FSP, customer satisfaction with services provided, accessibility of the FSP, access to and satisfaction with food stores, food security status of FSP participants and eligible nonparticipants, and

nutrient availability of food use by a subset of FSP participants. Even though there is no plan to repeat the NFSPS in the future, it is considered a principal data source due to the strengths discussed below.¹²

The NFSPS employed both computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) and computer-assisted personal interview (CAPI) methods to collect data from low-income households, including 2,454 FSP participants, 450 eligible nonparticipants, and 405 near-eligible nonparticipants. Social, demographic, and economic characteristics of sampled households were collected. The respondents' experience, time required, and cost incurred in FSP application and recertification were recorded. The reasons that low-income eligible households did not apply for Food Stamp benefits were also asked. Therefore, the NFSPS data are ideally suited for understanding the factors affecting low-income households' decisions about FSP participation. ¹³

There are two major strengths in the NFSPS data. First, approximately 950 FSP households provided records on food use over a 1-week period. The records include data on both the quantity and prices of food used (but not the intake), as well as on expenditures for food at home and away from home. This is the most recent of USDA surveys that have collected household-level data on food use, as opposed to the individual food intake data collected by the CSFII.¹⁴ The Food Intake Analysis System (FIAS) was used to create a nutrient database of the food purchased, enabling researchers to study nutrient availability to FSP households. A second strength of the NFSPS data lies in the consistent timeframe for data related to food expenditure, household income, and food stamp benefits; household income and FSP benefit amounts were collected for the same month in which food use was reported.

Other useful information collected in the NFSPS includes the 18-item food security module and data on shopping practices and habits, diet- and health-related attitudes and knowledge, and special dietary needs of

¹² The final reports for the NFSPS are available at www.fns.usda.gov/oane/menu/published/fsp/fsp.htm.

¹³ The reasons for nonparticipation were a major topic of the NFSPS analysis conducted for FNS (Ponza et al., 1999).

¹⁴ Earlier surveys include the cash-out demonstration studies conducted in Alabama, San Diego, and Washington State, as well as the Nationwide Food Consumption Surveys conducted in 1977-78 and 1987-88.

household members. The questions on diet and health attitudes and knowledge are similar to those questions in the Diet and Health Knowledge Survey, discussed in the section on the CSFII.

In addition to detailed information on FSP participation, several pieces of information on participation in other FANPs were collected. The survey asked if the household had received, during the last 30 days, (1) free or reduced-cost meals for the elderly, (2) free or reduced-cost school lunches or breakfasts, (3) WIC food packages (and if so, the number of household members participating in WIC), and (4) free foods from other programs, such as a food bank or pantry.

National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, Third Round (NHANES-III)

The NHANES-III is the latest in a series of seven national health examination studies conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Beginning in 1971, a large nutrition component was added to the basic design, enabling the NHANES-III to contribute periodic information on the nutritional status of the U.S. population. The NHANES-III has contributed substantially to the formulation and conduct of public health policy for the Nation and is one of the major national surveys in the National Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research Programs. NHANES-III data were collected between 1988 and 1994.

The NHANES-III was designed to obtain information for assessing the nutritional and health status of the U.S. civilian, noninstitutionalized population. NHANES-III data allow estimation of the national prevalence of selected diseases, investigation of the natural history of selected diseases, and assessment of nutritional and health status. The survey addressed a broad array of nutrition and health outcomes and included a single 24-hour recall, a detailed nonquantitative food frequency, information on food sufficiency and hunger, anthropometric measurements, nutritional biochemistries (blood, serum, and urine), and selected clinical assessments. The survey also included questions about participation in the FSP, WIC, the NSLP, and the SBP.

The first stage of the sample design for NHANES-III was the selection of 81 primary sampling units (PSUs), which were principally individual counties. Using lists of addresses, households in each county were screened, and individuals were then selected from sampled households based on gender, age, and race or ethnicity. The procedure was designed to draw large numbers of young children, older persons, African Americans, and Mexican Americans in order to reduce sampling errors for these subgroups.

About 40,000 persons 2 months of age and over were selected, and they (or their proxies, in the case of young children) were asked to complete extensive interviews and examinations in a large mobile examination center. After the sample individuals were selected, the interviewer administered either the Household Adult Questionnaire (for those 17 years and over) or the Household Youth Questionnaire (for those 2 months through 16 years of age) to the sampled person or proxy respondent. These surveys focused on the incidence of common diseases and health conditions. The interview closed with the Family Questionnaire, which was administered to a responsible adult household member. This questionnaire collected household information on educational levels, ethnicity, occupations, health insurance coverage, family income, and housing arrangements. Sampled persons were then asked to visit a Mobile Examination Center (MEC) for physical examinations, other tests and measurements, nutrition interviews, and collection of blood and urine specimens. Approximately 77 percent of those who were sampled completed the MEC portion of the survey.

The NHANES-III sample consists of 31,311 individuals. From previous work with the NHANES-III data, we know that 4,745 of these sample members are children aged 12 to 59 months. After excluding children with incomplete or inconsistent data on WIC participation and income eligibility, the database includes 1,010 child WIC participants, 2,101 nonparticipating children who are financially eligible, and 1,261 children who are financially ineligible (defined as those whose family income is over 200 percent of the Federal poverty level). ¹⁶

The current NHANES began to operate under a new approach in 1999 as a continuous, annual survey with

¹⁵ Because data collection for NHANES-III began before the official module of food security questions was finalized by FNS, the survey did not include the full module of 18 items.

¹⁶ In these exploratory analyses for FNS, we defined WIC income eligibility a little more broadly than the actual 185-percent-of-poverty cutoff because household income fluctuates from month to month and WIC income eligibility is checked only when a household applies for the benefit.

nationally representative samples of 5,000 people per year. This change will enhance timely release of NHANES data. NHANES will share PSUs and questionnaire content with the National Health Interview Survey (NHIS). The Department of Health and Human Services plans to provide links to Medicare records and the National Death Index. In 2002, the CSFII and NHANES-III data collections will be combined, providing a single national data source for information on the nutrient intake, nutritional status, and health status of Americans (NCHS, 2000; Dwyer et al., 2001).

National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1979 Cohort (NLSY79)

The NLSY79 is a continuing longitudinal survey of a nationally representative cohort of men and women who were ages 14-22 when data collection began in 1979. The purpose of the study is to gather information about the lives of the study cohort, with particular attention to their family backgrounds, education and job training, labor market experiences, and marital and childbearing experiences. The NLSY79 is the successor to surveys of earlier NLS cohorts of young men and women begun in the late 1960s. The NLS program is directed by the BLS. The Center for Human Resource Research (CHRR), Ohio State University, contributes to the survey design and manages survey operations and data dissemination, and the National Opinion Research Center (NORC) conducts the surveys under subcontract to CHRR.

Although the NLSY79 is primarily focused on employment-related activities and experiences, it provides a substantial amount of longitudinal information on respondents' food expenditures, health, prenatal care, dietary practices during pregnancy, birth outcomes, postnatal infant care, and infant feeding. ¹⁷ It also provides detailed data on household composition, income, assets, housing assistance, food stamp receipt, WIC receipt, and demographic and environmental variables. The survey uses a main annual questionnaire that is relatively consistent from year to year but has evolved as the cohort has aged; special-topic modules are added periodically to address additional subjects of interest. Supplemental surveys have included a 1980 survey of respondents' schools to gather enrollment

data, test scores, and school characteristics; a 1980-83 survey of completed high school transcripts; and the administration of the Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery. With the exception of 1987, over 80 percent of interviews have been conducted in person, with computer-assisted personal or telephone interviewing (CAPI/CATI) used since 1993.

The NLSY79 cohort had 8,636 respondents (87 percent of the 9,964 eligible members) in 1996, the most recent year for which final counts are available. The original study sample of 12,686 youth included three subsamples: a nationally representative main sample of 6,111 youths; a supplemental sample of 5,295 youths representing Hispanic, Black, and economically disadvantaged White youth; and a sample of 1,280 youths representing enlistees in the Armed Forces. The sample has diminished because of attrition and because the subsamples of military enlistees and disadvantaged non-Hispanic Whites have been discontinued.

National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mother and Child Supplements (NLSY-MC) and National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)

Two related studies have collected longitudinal data on the children of the NLSY79 cohort. The Mother and Child Supplements (NLSY-MC) began in 1986 to collect supplementary data on the birth and early childhood experiences of mothers in the NLSY79 cohort and their children. Since then, these children (and subsequent children born to the NLSY79 women) have been assessed biennially on cognitive, psychological, and social/emotional dimensions, both through interviews with their mothers and through direct administration of standardized developmental tests. Older children (ages 10-14) have been given self-administered questionnaires on sensitive topics concerning behavior, attitudes, relationships, and educational expectations. Starting in 1994, the NLSY79 cohort's children aged 15 and older have been interviewed biennially as a new cohort of young adults (NLSY-YA). NLSY-YA collects information on education and training, work, health, dating and marriage, pregnancy and birth outcomes, infant feeding practices, childcare, household composition, and family income and assets.

The longitudinal nature of the NLSY permits the NLSY79 data on the mothers to be linked with the NLSY-MC data on their children and with the

¹⁷ Pregnancy and birth outcomes include: maternal weight gain, length of gestation/weeks premature, and infant birthweight and length.

subsequent NLSY-YA data on those children as young adults and their early experiences as parents. The main NLSY questionnaire collects information on maternal characteristics, which can be linked, through the two subsequent surveys, to child demographics and family background; prenatal and postnatal health and healthcare services; parent-reported height and weight; infant feeding practices; disability-related services; pediatric health care; and educational experiences. Assessments conducted by trained interviewers provide data on the nature and quality of the home environment, cognitive development, and motor, social, and emotional development. Educational experiences have been further documented by a 1995 survey of schools attended by NLSY children in 1993-94 or 1994-95; this survey gathered both school-level characteristics and individual educational outcomes of the respondents, including attendance, grades, and transcripts. As described above, further sources include the self-administered questionnaires for older children and the NLSY-YA interviews. Both FSP and WIC participation data are available for the NLSY79 mothers, the NLSY-MC children, and the NLSY-YA cohort. The impact of WIC participation on infants' birthweights, health, and development in the NLSY-MC is the subject of a research project funded by ERS through a grant administered by the Institute for Research on Poverty. 18

The NLSY-MC cohort of mothers and their children has grown from 4,971 respondents in 1986 to 7,103 respondents in 1996. During this time, the youngest age group (birth to age 9) has declined from 4,676 to 3,480, while the older group (10-14 years) grew from 294 in 1986 to a peak of 2,084 in 1994, before dropping to 1,951 in 1996 as children aged out of the NLSY-MC. The NLSY-YA cohort had 851 respondents in 1994 and 1,672 respondents in 1996.

The sampling designs of the NLSY-MC and NLSY-YA have both strengths and weaknesses. On the one hand, the longitudinal data on the mothers of the sample members offer a rich set of variables to explore relationships between maternal histories and children's subsequent development. On the other hand, the NLSY-MC and NLSY-YA cohorts are not nationally representative, for several reasons. First, they represent a truncated portion of the potential offspring of the women in the cohort represented by the NLSY, because data have not been collected on the earliest

and latest childbearing years (that is, the data are left-censored and right-censored). Second, the study does not represent young women who immigrated after 1979 and their children. Last, attrition of the sample affects these studies as it does all panel studies: of the 10,507 children born to the original cohort of women in the NLSY79, data were collected on 7,103 offspring in 1996—a retention rate of 68 percent (CHRR, 1998).

National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)

The NSAF is designed to assess the well-being of children and adults, to identify changes over time, and to examine the relationships between indicators of well-being and changes in the structure and operation of the social safety net. The NSAF is part of the Assessing the New Federalism (ANF) project, a multiyear study of the devolution of social programs and associated policy changes, such as those resulting from recent welfare reforms. The NSAF is designed and directed by the Urban Institute, with assistance from Child Trends Inc. in developing measures of child well-being. Westat Inc. is conducting the survey. The ANF project is funded by a number of foundations.

NSAF collects data on seven domains of well-being: (1) economic security for children, adults, and households or families, including income, employment, receipt of cash and food assistance, and food sufficiency; (2) health and healthcare for children and adults, with additional data for children on (3) education and cognitive development, (4) social development and positive activities, and (5) behavior problems; (6) family environment measures for children, adults, and family units, including family structure, psychological well-being of adults, family stress, immigration status, and childbearing practices; and finally, (7) adults' on their knowledge of available community services.

The NSAF sample has two parts. The primary sample was designed to provide State-level estimates for the 13 States that comprise over half of the U.S. population: Alabama, California, Colorado, Florida, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, Texas, Washington, and Wisconsin. In each State, the NSAF sampled 1,000 households with children and 1,000 nonelderly adults who do not live with children as parents or guardians. An additional sample was drawn from the balance of the Nation to make the overall sample nationally representative. Low-income households were

¹⁸ See L. Kowaleski-Jones and G. Duncan (2000).

oversampled, so 53 percent of households with children in the sample had incomes below 200 percent of the poverty level. Elderly adults and homeless or institutionalized persons were excluded.

All interviews were conducted by telephone from February to November 1997. The completed sample included 42,973 households with telephones and 1,488 households without telephones, who were contacted by field staff and interviewed using cellular phones. Two sample frames were used: an RDD frame for households with telephones and an area probability sample for others. The total sample included 75,437 adults and 34,439 children. A second cross-sectional survey of 50,277 households was conducted in 1999. The 1999 sample partially overlapped the 1997 sample and was designed to provide more precise national estimates. ¹⁹

There are some weaknesses in the use of the NSAF to study FANP outcomes. Raw response rates for the combination of the screener (used to identify eligible households) and the full interview were 65 percent for children and 61 percent for adults (Brick, 1999). (Responses for children were provided by the most knowledgeable adult.) After weights were applied for different portions of the sample and other technical adjustments were made, the overall response rate was 70 percent. The adjusted response rate for the 1999 NSAF was 64 percent. One indicator of potential nonresponse bias is the coverage rate, which in 1997 was 93 percent for children, comparable to that of the CPS, but the coverage rate for adults was only 86 percent (versus 91 percent for the CPS).²⁰ The coverage rate for children fell to 90 percent in the 1999 survey, while the rate for adults rose to 87 percent. Several studies of nonresponse in the 1997 NSAF have found little or no evidence of bias, but analysis of this potential problem is ongoing (Safir et al., 2001).

Summary results from the 1997 NSAF were released in January 1999; 1999 NSAF results were released in October 2000. Available public-use files from the 1997 NSAF include child data, adult data, and family data; all of these files include weights to adjust for

differential sampling rates, nonresponse, and undercount (relative to Census data). Some analyses, such as relating food sufficiency to FSP participation, may require linking different datasets using individual, family, and household identifiers. From the 1999 NSAF, a public-use file of selected child and family data is available. The discussion of data availability in this report is based on the 1997 data.

Panel Study of Income Dynamics and Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)

The PSID is a longitudinal study of income, employment, family composition, and residential location in a representative sample of U.S. civilian households. The PSID was begun in 1968 by the Office of Economic Opportunity to study poverty and government-sponsored antipoverty programs. It is run by the Survey Research Center of the Institute for Social Research (ISR) at the University of Michigan, with funding from the National Science Foundation and other Federal agencies.

The core questions, which have been consistent over the life of the PSID, focus on income sources and amounts, employment, family composition and changes, and demographic characteristics and events. The income questions include information on FSP participation, spell incidence, duration, and benefit levels. Other core topics include food and housing expenditures, food sufficiency, health status, and fertility histories. Supplements have gathered data on health experiences and expenditures, education, childcare, neighborhood characteristics, and wealth.

The PSID began with a sample of 5,000 households in 1968, and data have been collected annually since then. The study had grown to 8,700 households in 1995 as a result of births, other additions to sample households, formation of new households by panel members, and the addition of a national sample of 2,000 Latino households in 1990. There has been substantial turnover, but the panel still includes members that have been interviewed since 1968.

In 1997, a Child Development Supplement (CDS) was added to the PSID. Funded by the Departments of Health and Human Services, Agriculture, and Education, this supplement focuses on the development and well-being of children. The panel for this study comprises 2,500 families from the PSID sample who

¹⁹ In the 1999 survey, about 60 percent of the telephone numbers and 93 percent of the area segments for interviews with non-telephone households were taken from the 1997 sample.

²⁰ The coverage rate is the estimate of the total population from weighted survey data divided by a control total presumed to be more complete.

have at least one child age 12 or younger.²¹ The PSID-CDS includes age-specific measures of the cognitive, behavioral, and health status of 3,500 children, collected through direct assessment of the children (age 3 and up) and interviews with mothers and other caregivers, teachers, and school administrators.

Like the main PSID, the CDS is designed as an annual survey with several components. The CDS primary caregiver interview gathers data on participation in WIC, FSP, NSLP, and SBP.²² This interview provides numerous nutrition and health outcome variables for caregiver and child, including the full food security battery, pregnancy and birth outcomes, breastfeeding choices, child immunization, health status, and healthcare utilization. The caregiver also provides information on the child's health history, behavior, childcare history, and school attendance and performance. Child assessments include height and weight (using a combination of parent report and interviewer measurement), cognitive ability (reading, math, and memory), and social/emotional development. Teacher interviews provide additional professional assessments of the child's academic ability and behavior in preschool and elementary school. The 1997 data from child assessments and primary caregiver interviews have been released, along with demographic data on the CDS children and their families.

There is mixed evidence concerning the representativeness of the main PSID sample from which the CDS sample is drawn. The original 1968 PSID sample was designed to be nationally representative, incorporating a stratified, multistage sample of the civilian noninstitutionalized population of the United States and a national survey of urban low-income families. Following rules were developed to retain the representativeness of the sample as individuals moved in and out of the original households. The initial response rate in 1968 was 76

percent, and the 1969 reinterview response rate was 89 percent. Although subsequent response rates were quite high, the cumulative effect of attrition was that by 1988 only 56 percent of the persons in the original households responded. ISR has developed weights to adjust for differential sampling and attrition in the original sample, and for the addition of the Latino sample, with the intention of providing a basis for nationally representative estimates from the PSID sample. The PSID User's Guide cites several studies that favorably compare the PSID to the SIPP and the CPS in several lines of analysis; the study findings suggest that attrition and other factors have not adversely affected the generalizability of the PSID data (Hill, 1992). Nevertheless, researchers should carefully consider the potential effects on their analyses of the PSID's sample design, following rules, and resulting sample composition.

Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)

The SIPP is a series of longitudinal, nationally representative studies of the dynamics of employment, income, eligibility for and participation in assistance programs, and demographics in the civilian noninstitutionalized U.S. population. It is specifically designed for use in program planning, policy analysis, and evaluation. It also supports more-basic research on patterns of income, poverty, and household composition.

The first SIPP panel was created by the Bureau of the Census in 1983 and continued with interviews every 4 months until July 1986. Since then, new panels of households have been inaugurated at varying times, with varying sample sizes and numbers of interview waves. To facilitate cross-sectional analyses, the Bureau of the Census has released public-use files from individual survey waves as the data become available. Upon completion of all interviews for a given panel, the bureau has constructed longitudinal analysis files in which all of the data are linked across time and weighted to account for attrition, nonresponse, and differential sampling rates.

Each SIPP panel has a core questionnaire that is administered in each wave (that is, every 4 months to each household) and a series of topical modules administered one or more times during the panel. The core questionnaire varies somewhat from panel to panel, but it has generally included questions on household composition and demographics,

²¹ Some children in CDS sample families will not be included in the CDS, because they are not in the PSID sample. The PSID has a complex set of rules for determining when new household members are added to the sample. See Hill (1992).

²² PSID-CDS also identifies preschoolers and children in childcare who receive free or reduced-price meals. The qualification of free or reduced-price meals clearly identifies low-income FANP participants; however, it is not possible to tell whether meals are provided by the NSLP (preschools or childcare associated with NSLP schools) or the Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP) (other childcare institutions). Moreover, because children participating in the CACFP through family childcare homes are not means tested, the question would fail to identify these children.

employment and earnings, application for and receipt of cash and food assistance, and other income. Program participation information has been obtained for FSP, WIC, NSLP, and SBP, as well as for cash assistance programs. (This information has been supplemented by a Welfare History module to gather information on participation spells prior to the start of the panel.) The core questionnaire also has included limited information on health status and disability relating to working, attending school, or performing other functions. More extensive information on illness, disability, and healthcare utilization has been obtained in a Health and Disability module administered to several SIPP panels. A Child Well-Being module administered to each panel has gathered information on children's school enrollment, last grade completed, and suspension/expulsion experiences (as well as information on time use, enrichment activities, and adult supports). The adequacy of household food supplies and incidence of hunger have been measured by two related modules, the Extended Measures of Well-Being module and the Basic Needs module. Other modules have asked detailed questions on assets and shelter costs, facilitating identification of fully eligible FSP nonparticipants (rather than simply using an income cutoff). Further modules of potential interest cover migration history, fertility history, and childcare.

The SIPP uses a combination of personal and telephone interviews. Each household member 15 or older is asked to respond individually, but proxy responses may be used if a person is unavailable.

The most recent completed SIPP panels were begun in 1991, 1992, 1993 and, after significant redesigning, 1996. The 1991 panel consisted of approximately 14,000 households that were interviewed eight times (covering 32 months), starting in February 1991. The 1992 panel consisted of 20,000 households interviewed 10 times (covering 40 months), starting in February 1992.²³ These panels, which together contained information on a total of 2,715 infant and child WIC participants, were used in a recently completed analysis of the dynamics of WIC participation among children (Burstein, Fox, et al., 2000). Since then, additional data have become available, including the longitudinal analysis file for the 9-wave 1993 panel, and Waves 1-12 of the 1996 panel. The 1993 panel consisted of

20,000 households. The 1996 panel (completed in 2000)) comprised some 37,000 households, with oversampling of economically disadvantaged groups (Blacks, Hispanic Whites, and female-headed households). Approximately 35,000 households from the 1992 and 1993 SIPP panels were interviewed in the 1997 "bridge survey" for the new Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD). As discussed below, the SPD is expected to run until 2002, providing up to 10 years' data on these panels.

As with the other panel surveys, the usefulness of the SIPP hinges in part on its sample design and patterns of attrition. The SIPP uses a multistage stratified random sampling design, with counties or groups of counties as PSUs. The 1996 SIPP uses PSUs based on 1990 Census data, with steps taken to minimize between-PSU variance on stratification variables and to maximize overlap with the PSUs derived from the 1980 Census for earlier SIPP panels (Siegel and Mack, 1995). Past SIPP panels generally have not oversampled low-income households, but the 1996 panel does, using 1990 Census data to stratify households within sampled PSUs. Initial response rates for the SIPP panels are around 80 percent, and final response rates have historically been on the order of 67 to 74 percent. The Census Bureau has developed weights to compensate for differential sampling, Census undercounts, and nonresponse. As noted earlier, some literature suggests that the SIPP compares favorably to other sources (particularly the pre-1994 CPS) on the accuracy of data on food stamp participation and other measures of interest to FANP studies, while other literature points to reasons for caution in using the SIPP rather than sources such as the PSID and CPS. The 1996 panel is still relatively new, so there is much yet to learn about the results of the changes in the SIPP's design.

Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)

The SPD is a Congressionally mandated longitudinal study of a nationally representative sample of the U.S.population.²⁴ The SPD will collect annual data for 10 years on the demographic, social, and economic characteristics of this sample, focusing on the dynamics of employment, earnings, participation in welfare programs, and adult and child well-being. A major objective of the SPD was to aid study of the results of welfare reforms and their effects on Americans.

²³ One of the four rotation groups was interviewed only nine times.

 $^{^{24}\,\}mathrm{The}\;\mathrm{SPD}$ was mandated and funded by Section 414 of P.L. 104-193.

The SPD is an extension of the 1992 and 1993 SIPP panels. The data collected on these panels provide a baseline of 3 years prior to the enactment of PRWORA in 1996. The SPD follows the households in these panels from 1996 through 2001.

As implied by the study's name, a major focus of the SPD is on the dynamics of participation in meanstested assistance programs, including cash assistance, food and nutrition assistance, housing assistance, and government-funded health insurance. There are detailed data on two other major domains, income and employment. For children, the SPD captures data on school status and problems, childcare, healthcare, child support, residence history, time use, and activities that promote cognitive, emotional, and social development.

Data collection for the SPD began in 1997 with a "bridge survey" that recontacted the sample persons from the 1992 and 1993 SIPP panels, who had last been interviewed in 1995. The first round of interviews with the SPD instruments was in 1998. Collection of data from the SPD panel, including a core questionnaire and topical modules, was planned to continue on an annual basis through 2001. Each year's survey provides retrospective data on the previous 12 months. Unlike the SIPP, the main questionnaire for the SPD collected data on all members of the household through an inperson interview with a single knowledgeable household member aged 15 and older. The 1998 SPD also included a self-administered audiocassette questionnaire for persons age 12 to 17. Available public-use data from the SPD include the 1997 survey file and a longitudinal file of 1992 through 1998 data.

Because the SPD began with the 1992 and 1993 SIPP panels, the sample was originally representative of the U.S. population but is subject to attrition, both during and after the SIPP data collection from these panels. The 1997 bridge survey had a sample of about 38,000 households, of which 30,125 were interviewed (79 percent). The 1998 sample of 18,500 households was a subsample of the 1997 respondents, including all households with children in the panel and an oversampling of households below or near the poverty level. Data were collected on every member of the sample household, including those who had joined or returned to the household since the last wave of data collection.

A major limitation of the SPD is the cumulative effect of nonresponse and shrinking samples over the 10-year series of surveys from which it draws. The cumulative response rate for the SPD from sample selection (in 1992-93) to the 13th interview in 1999 was 50 percent (Weinberg and Shipp, 2000). The SPD was also constrained by budget limitations, which reduced the size of the sample for the 1998 survey to 67 percent of the eligible 1997 sample. Subsequent samples were essentially the same in size. About 1,900 nonrespondents to the 1997 bridge survey were interviewed in 2000 (Census, 2001).

Information on FANP Participation

The scope of the participation data on a given program is a critical factor in determining the kinds of analyses that can be performed. Therefore, we reviewed the availability of program participation data from each principal source in terms of three important dimensions: the reference period for which participation is determined, whether and how the duration of participation is determined, and whether and how the size of the benefit "dose" is measured (for example, FSP benefit level or the frequency of subsidized meals). In addition, we identified which participation data cover entire households or families and which refer to specific individuals.

It is important to note that, in addition to the characteristics described below, the longitudinal data sources (ECLS-K, NLSY79, NLSY-MC, NLSY-YA, PSID-CDS, SIPP, and SPD) permit the construction of longer-term histories of FANP participation by merging data collected in different waves.

FSP Participation

Table 3 summarizes the data on FSP participation available in each of the principal sources, all of which provide this information at the household level. Several sources (CSFII, NLSY-MC, NSAF, PSID-CDS, SIPP, and SPD) also have participation data for one or more individuals in the sampled households. Most of the sources use a 12-month reference period for FSP participation, either alone or in combination with other periods. The exceptions are the CPS-FSS, NFSPS, NLSY-YA, and SIPP.

Table 3—Information available on food stamp program participation

		Refe	rence period ¹		D	uration ¹	Benefit level ¹		
Data source	Current	Last month	12 months ²	Other	Months in reference period ³	Other	Current/ most recent monthly	Total for reference period	Other
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys		√ 4	√ 4	Past 4 months ⁵	✓		√ 4	√ 5	
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	√ 6		√ 6			Date last received ⁶	✓		
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)		✓					✓		
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)			✓	Since birth of sample child	√ 7				
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	√ 6	√ 6		Lifetime		Date last received length of last spell	✓		
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	✓		✓						
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)			✓		✓	Specified months	✓		
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)			√ 8		√ 8		√ 8		
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)				Current calendar year, lifetime	✓	Dates and length of up to 5 spells for current recipients	√		Monthly average for each year
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	✓		√ 9	Lifetime, previous year	✓		√ 10	√ 10	
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)		✓	✓	Prenatal ¹¹	✓		✓	✓	
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)				Past 4 months ⁶	√ 6	Start and length of 1st spell, number of spells for primary recipient	✓	✓	Monthly detail
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)			√ 6		✓			√ 12	

¹All data are household level except as noted.

²Includes sources using last 12 months or last calendar year.

³Depending on reference period, may include one or more spells of participation (ongoing or completed).

⁴Diary Survey component of CES.

⁵Interview Survey component of CES.

⁶Individual level data for every household member.

⁷Number of months in last 12 months.

⁸Data from main NLSY79 questionnaire for mother.

⁹NSAF participation data identify whether adults, children, or both received benefits in previous year.

¹⁰NSAF asks for annual total or monthly average benefits for last calendar year.

¹¹In Child Development Supplement, for mother of focus child.

¹²SPD asks for annual total benefits for household using monthly average, estimated total, or varying benefit amounts.

Most of the principal sources identify the specific number of months of FSP participation in the reference period, but CSFII, CPS-FSS, and NHANES-III lack this information. All of the sources except ECLS-K and NHANES-III have data on FSP benefit levels, most often the current or most recent monthly benefit.

WIC Participation

Table 4 provides detailed information on the WIC participation data available from all but one of the principal sources. (The CES has only FSP participation data.) In general, WIC participation data are less detailed than FSP participation data. Only CSFII, SIPP, and SPD have duration of WIC participation for every household member. NHANES-III has relatively rich data on sample members, including individual-level participation for three reference periods (current, last month, and last year) and duration for the current or most recently completed spell. The NFSPS asked the number of household members who received WIC foods during the past 30 days.

The information available in other data sources is somewhat more limited. The CPS-FSS has only household-level WIC participation data, although it does identify the number of WIC participants in the household. The three NLSY sources offer only the most basic information: whether anyone in the household received WIC benefits during the last 12 months. Given that eligibility for WIC participation is restricted to a very narrow group of individuals, however, it should be possible to make reasonable deductions about which member(s) participated in the program.

Three sources provide a clear basis for identifying infants and children whose mothers received WIC benefits during pregnancy: ECLS-K, PSID-CDS and SIPP. This relationship can be deduced for many cases in the NLSY-79 and NLSY-MC, and possibly in the SPD. In fact, as noted previously, an ERS-funded grant is currently examining the relationship between WIC participation and birth outcomes using data from the NLSY-MC.²⁵ The PSID-CDS also has current WIC participation for the focus children under 3 years of age.

NSLP Participation

Table 5 indicates the specific information available on NSLP participation for the nine principal sources that provide any information. Questions are asked to elicit five different measures of program exposure, as discussed below.

The first question is whether the child attends a school that participates in the NSLP. CSFII, ECLS-K, and NHANES-III offer data on whether the NSLP is available at the child's school (which, to be sure, is almost always true for public schools). ²⁶ In the CSFII, this question, and all questions related to NSLP participation, are asked for every child in the household between the ages of 5 and 18 years. Thus, one could easily construct measures that would reflect household-level participation in the NSLP.

The second question is how often the child takes the NSLP meal. All of the listed sources have some information on this question except the NSAF. CSFII, ECLS-K, and NHANES-III quantify the frequency of school lunch consumption for individual children (all children in the CSFII and sample members who are children in ECLS-K and NHANES-III). SIPP provides quantitative frequency data at the household level and identifies (in the 1996 panel) individual children who "usually" take school lunches. SPD identifies each child in the household who "usually" eats the lunch offered at school. PSID-CDS has only a qualitative measure of whether the focal child usually takes the school lunch.²⁷

The third question is whether the child receives free or reduced-price lunches. NHANES-III has no data on this. All of the other principal sources with NSLP data have at least an indicator of free or reduced-price status, but only CSFII and PSID-CDS identify individuals according to free vs. reduced-price status (all household members for the CSFII and sample members for the PSID-CDS). SIPP differentiates free vs. reduced-price participation at the household level (for all children in the house as a group). SPD identifies whether each child in the household got free or reduced-price lunches or breakfasts, thus allowing

²⁵ Greg Duncan and Lori Kowaleski-Jones, "Effects of Participation in Food Assistance Programs: Evidence from NLSY Children," research in progress at Northwestern University.

²⁶ Questions are framed in terms of the availability of "complete meals offered for the same fixed price every day," which provides a reasonable proxy for the NSLP.

²⁷ The PSID-CDS asks: "Does (the child) usually eat a complete hot lunch offered at (daycare/nursery school/ preschool/school)?"

Table 4—Information available on WIC participation

		Refere		Duration		
Data source	Current	Last month	12 months ¹	Other	Months in reference period ²	Other
Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	√3				√ 3	
Current Population Survey- Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)		√ 4				
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)				Prenatal, infancy ⁵		
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)		√ 4				
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	√ 5	√ 5	√ 5		√ 5	Completed spell ⁶
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)			√ 4			
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth- Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)			√4			
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth- Young Adults (NLSY-YA)			√ 4			
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)			√ 7			
Panel Study of Income Dynamics- Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	√ 8			Prenatal ⁹		
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) ⁵				Past 4 month ³	√ 3	Monthly detail ³
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)			√3		√3	

¹Includes sources using last 12 months or last calendar year.

²Depending on reference period, may include one or more spells of participation (ongoing or completed).

³Individual-level data for each household member.

⁴Information available for the number of WIC food packages received by the household.

⁵Information available for individual sample member.

⁶Length of completed spell ending in reference period, regardless of start date.

⁷Household-level data.

 $^{^8\}mbox{In}$ Child Development Supplement, for focus child under 3 years old.

⁹In Child Development Supplement, for mother of focus child.

Table 5—Information available on NSLP participation

	Attends NSLP	Frequency takes NSLP	Receives free or reduced-	Dietary recall	
Data source	school ¹	meals	price meals	data	Other
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	✓2	✓2	√3	√4	
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)			√ 5		
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)	√ 6	√ 6	√ 6		
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)		√ 7	√ 7		
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	√ 8	√ 8		√ 9	
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)			√ 10		
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)		√ 11	√ 3		
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)		√ 12	√ 5		√ 13
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)		√ 14	√ 15		

¹Question asks whether child attends school where a complete meal is offered every day for the same fixed price, a reasonable proxy for the existence of an NSLP lunch program (as opposed to a strictly a la carte program).

²CSFII has data for each household member between 5 and 18 years of age.

³CSFII and PSID-CDS differentiate free participants from reduced-price participants.

⁴CSFII data allow differentiation of foods obtained and eaten at school from foods eaten at school but obtained elsewhere.

⁵Data collected at household level. CPS-FSS does not differentiate between free and reduced-price meals; the SIPP asks about each separately.

⁶ECLS-K data are for sample child.

⁷In the household food use component of NFSPS, the number of school lunches eaten was collected for the last 7 days. In the NFSPS main survey, each household member reported if free or reduced-price lunches were consumed for the last 30 days. No distinction was made between free and reduced-price lunches.

⁸NHANES-III collected data for sampled children/youth (ages 2 months to 16 years).

⁹NHANES-III data include codes for place eaten rather than source of food. Therefore, foods coded as "eaten at school" include foods obtained elsewhere; i.e., non-NSLP foods.

¹⁰NSAF data indicate any receipt of free or reduced-price lunches by children in the last year (household-level data).

¹¹PSID-CDS asks whether focal child "usually" takes a complete lunch offered at school.

¹²The 1993 SIPP collected information on the number of lunches consumed per week within the household. The 1996 panel questionnaire obtained information on which children consumed lunches.

¹³The SIPP also collects information on average price paid.

¹⁴The SPD asks which children usually eat lunch offered at school.

¹⁵For each child, the SPD asks whether the child received a free or reduced-price lunch or breakfast because he/she was qualified for the NSLP. This information can be used to infer whether NSLP participation was via free or reduced-price meals.

differentiation between free/reduced-price NSLP participants and those who are eligible for free/reduced price meals but choose to take full-price meals instead. NFSPS asked for each household member receiving free or reduced-price lunches or breakfasts for the last 30 days. In the household food-use component of NFSPS, each FSP household stated the number of times household members received free lunches and breakfasts over the past 7 days. CPS-FSS has household but not individual data and does not differentiate between free and reduced-price participation. (This could be imputed based on household income and size).

The fourth question is the nutrient content of the NSLP meals consumed by participating children and the contribution of those meals to children's total diets. CSFII and NHANES-III are the only sources providing this information. Both sources provide dietary recall data. CSFII data include information on whether the foods consumed at lunch were prepared at home or school, whereas NHANES-III only differentiates lunches eaten at school from those eaten at home. Thus, the CSFII provides a superior measure of the nutrient content of meals consumed by NSLP participants. ²⁸

The SIPP asks for a fifth data item on NSLP participants: the average price paid. This item might be useful in explaining variation in participation among children not eligible for free or reduced-price meals.

SBP Participation

As shown in table 6, eight of the nine sources with NLSP participation data also identify SBP participants; the SPD does not. Six of the sources provide the same participation data for the SBP as for the NSLP. The SIPP provides all of the same items for SBP as for NSLP except the average price paid per meal. The ECLS-K does not directly ask whether SBP participants receive free or reduced-price meals, but this can be inferred from the response on free/reduced price status for the NSLP.

Participation in Other FANPs

In addition to the four most commonly identified USDA programs, participation in one other FANP can be approximated in a few of the principal sources. The CPS-FSS, NHANES-III, and PSID all include questions about elders' receipt of meals from congregate feeding sites or Meals on Wheels. NHANES-III differentiates between the two sources of meals. In addition, as noted in preceding discussions, the CPS-FSS and PSID-CDS provide information about children in childcare facilities who receive free or reduced-price meals, but this does not allow differentiation of meals provided through the NSLP or CACFP. Moreover, because children participating in the CACFP through family childcare homes are not means tested, survey questions are unlikely to pick up these children. The NFSPS asked if household members had received, during the past 30 days, free or reduced-cost meals for the elderly or at a daycare or Head Start program.

None of the other FANPs is represented in the principal data sources. For some programs this is not an unexpected finding, given that participation is defined at the institutional rather than individual level. Survey respondents are unlikely to know, for example, whether the food pantry from which they received emergency food supplies participates in The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP). Likewise, neither parent nor child respondents are likely to know whether school-based nutrition education activities receive funding from the Nutrition Education and Training (NET) Program. For other FANPs, however, participants could potentially be identified in data collected via the principal sources if appropriately worded questions were added to survey instruments. These include participants in the Summer Food Service Program, Commodity Supplemental Food Program, Special Milk Program, Food Distribution Program on Indian Reservations, and WIC Farmer's Market Nutrition Program.

Data on Nutrition- and Health-Related Measures

The principal data sources include a wide variety of nutrition- and health-related measures. For the discussion that follows, these measures have been divided into seven groups:

²⁸ In NHANES-III, the frequency of taking the NSLP meal could be used to identify which children's lunches are likely to be NSLP meals; however, this approach might require the exclusion of data for infrequent NSLP participants and thereby produce biased results.

Table 6—Information available on SBP participation

	Frequency			
Attends	takes	Receives free	Dietary	
~	~		recall	
school ¹	meals	price meals	data	
√2	✓2	√3	✓4	
		√5		
√ 6	√ 6	√ 6		
	√7	√7		
√8	✓8		√9	
		√ 10		
	√ 11			
	√ 12	√ 5		
	SBP school¹ ✓²	Attends takes SBP SBP school¹ meals √2 √2 √6 √6 √7 ✓8 ✓8	Attends SBP SBP school¹ takes SBP meals Receives free or reduced-price meals ✓2 ✓2 ✓3 ✓6 ✓6 ✓6 ✓7 ✓7 ✓8 ✓8 ✓11 ✓11	

¹Question asks whether child attends school where a complete meal is offered every day for the same fixed price, a reasonable proxy for the existence of an SBP breakfast program (as opposed to a strictly a la carte program).

⁶ECLS-K data are for the sample child. Receipt of free/reduced price breakfast can be inferred from free/reduced price lunch and SBP participation. The ECLS-K also has information on number of meals or snacks in day care or other child care.

⁷In the household food use component of NFSPS, the number of school breakfasts eaten was collected for the last 7 days. In the NFSPS main survey, each household member reported if free or reduced-price breakfasts were consumed for the last 30 days. No distinction was made between free and reduced-price breakfasts

⁸NHANES-III collected data for sampled children/youth (ages 2 months to 16 years).

⁹NHANES-III data includes codes for place eaten rather than source of food. Therefore, foods coded as "eaten at school" include foods obtained elsewhere; i.e., non-SBP foods.

²CSFII has data for each household member between 5 and 18 years of age.

³CSFII and PSID-CDS differentiate free participants from reduced-price participants.

⁴CSFII data allow differentiation of foods obtained and eaten at school from foods eaten at school but obtained elsewhere.

⁵Data collected at household level. The CPS-FSS and NFSPS do not differentiate between free and reduced-price meals; the SIPP asks about each separately.

¹⁰NSAF data indicate any receipt of free or reduced-price breakfasts by children in the last year (household-level data).

¹¹PSID-CDS asks whether focal child "usually" takes a complete breakfast offered at school.

¹²The 1993 SIPP collected information on the number of school breakfasts consumed per week within the household. The 1996 panel questionnaire obtained information on which children consumed school breakfasts.

- food expenditures and intake;
- sufficiency of the individual's or household's food supply;
- physical and biochemical measures related to nutritional status;
- birth outcomes:
- breastfeeding, immunization, and other health-related behaviors;
- health status and other health-related variables; and
- measures related to physical, cognitive, and emotional status or performance.

The text and tables that follow provide specific information about the data available in each of these categories. Each table repeats the information on program participation data, so that readers can easily see the overlap between available program participation information and available nutrition- and health-related measures.

Food Expenditures and Intake

Table 7 shows the availability of data from the principal sources on the following types of outcomes:

- food expenditures (how much is spent on food or what foods are purchased)
- food intake (meals, food groups, or specific foods consumed)
- nutrient intake (daily consumption of energy and nutrients)

CES provides the most detailed data on food expenditures, including information on the specific foods purchased by sampled households. Data are obtained through a diary in which respondents record purchases of food, household supplies, and other items for two 1-week periods over the course of a year. NFSPS provides detailed data on the quantity and expense of specific food purchased and used in a 1week period, but only for the FSP households. In contrast, all of the other data sources obtain muchmore-general information. NLSY-MC, NLSY79, PSID-CDS, and SPD obtain measures of total food expenditures over the preceding 12 months, using a brief set of survey questions. CSFII and NFSPS use a similar set of questions to obtain data on at-home and away-from-home food expenditure for the previous 3 months, while CPS-FSS obtain the data for the

previous week. None of the sources, except NFSPS, directly measures the proportion of purchased food that is actually used or nutrient equivalents of the household food supply (nutrient availability at the household level). Neither ECLS-K, NSAF, nor SIPP provides any information on food consumption.

In terms of information on food and nutrient intake, a contrast exists between the two sources that are national surveys included in the NNMRRP — NHANES-III and CSFII — and the other data sources that provide these types of data. Both NHANES-III and CSFII obtain detailed information on the foods consumed by survey respondents through guided recalls covering a 24-hour period (one such period for NHANES-III and two nonconsecutive periods for CSFII). These recalls are then used to estimate intakes of food energy and a broad array of nutrients. CSFII also provides food intakes for 71 food groups and 30 pyramid food groups. Both CSFII and NHANES-III include a nonquantified food frequency. NHANES-III has an infant feeding history. The NFSPS collected data on household food use, and a nutrient database is used to derive the household nutrient availability from the food use data.

The other sources offer much-more-limited data on selected eating habits or practices. NLSY79 and NLSY-YA, for example, have a series of questions about dietary practices during pregnancy and infant feeding practices. PSID-CDS has only one food intake item; how often the focal child eats breakfast.

Food Sufficiency

As table 8 illustrates, 9 of the 13 principal sources provide some type of self-reported information on the sufficiency of food available to respondent households or individuals. The most authoritative sources of information on this topic are CPS-FSS, ECLS-K, NFSPS, PSID-CDS, and SPD. As noted in the preceding descriptions of each data source, these sources include the full 18-item food security scale developed for FNS (Hamilton et al., 1997).

CSFII, NHANES-III, NSAF, and SIPP have more limited questions about whether the household has sufficient food and, if not, the reasons why. (The main PSID has similar questions.) In addition, NHANES-III, NSAF, and SIPP have a few questions on hunger, framed in terms of skipping meals or losing weight because of not enough money or other resources to get

Table 7—Available information on food expenditures and intake

		FAN	Ps identifi	ed			
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Food expenditures	Food intake	Nutrient intake
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys		✓			Detailed expenditures diary (2 weeks/year)		
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	✓	✓	✓	✓	Food expenditures: household and away from home	2 nonconsecutive Food intakes in 71 food groups & 30 pyramid food groups	24-hour recalls Use of vitamin & mineral supplements (type/frequency)
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)	√	✓	✓	✓	Food expenditures: household and away from home		
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	Food expenditures: household and away from home	Household food availability	
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	✓	✓	✓	√		24-hour Nonquantified food frequency (12+ years) Infant feeding history (<12 mos)	Use of vitamins and mineral supplements (type/frequency)
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)	✓	✓			Food expenditures: household and away from home	Vitamin/mineral supplementation, calorie reduction, salt reduction, during pregnancy; infant feeding practices ¹	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)	√	√			Food expenditures: household and away from home	Infant feeding practices ¹	
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)	√	√				Vitamin/mineral supplementation calorie reduction, salt reduction during pregnancy; infant feeding practices	
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	Food expenditures: household and away from home	Child usually eats breakfast	
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	✓	✓	✓	✓	Food expenditures: household and away from home		

¹Infant feeding not available in NLSY79 1994-1996. NLSY79 main questionnaire is the source for food expenditure and intake data for the NLSY-MC sample.

Table 8—Information available on food sufficiency and hunger

		FANPs	identified		Food sufficiency outcomes				
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Full food security model ¹	Limited food sufficiency questions ²	Limited questions on hunger ³		
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓			
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓			
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)	✓	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓		
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				

¹Reference period is past 12 months; household level. In addition, NFSPS included a reference period of past 30 days.

²Questions about adequacy of available food, resources to purchase food, use of food pantries, etc. Household level for all, plus individual level for sample members in NHANES-III.

³Questions about meal skipping, diminished size of meals, experiencing hunger, etc. Both household and individual levels in NHANES.

food. NHANES-III has both individual and household data on food sufficiency; all other sources with this information, including CPS-FSS and PSID-CDS, provide only household-level data.

Physical and Biochemical Measures

Of the 13 principal sources, 7 have data on the heights and weights of individuals in the sample. As indicated in table 9, self-reported heights and weights are obtained by NLSY-YA, CSFII, and NLSY79.²⁹ PSID-CDS has heights measured by interviewers and selfreported weights for the focal children. ECLS-K, NLSY-MC and NHANES-III have heights and weights measured by trained field staff. ECLS-K and NLSY-MC obtained child height and weight data as part of more general standardized assessments of child development. NHANES-III collected this information as part of medical examinations in which skinfold thickness and head circumference also were measured. NHANES-III is alone among the principal sources in providing data on nutritional biochemistries, including blood iron levels and serum and blood levels of other selected nutrients.

Birth Outcomes

Except for CSFII, all of the sources that provide data on height and weight also have information on birth outcomes (table 9). The most common data include birthweight and gestational age, as reported by the current primary caregiver at the time of the interview. These data are available from ECLS-K, NHANES-III, PSID-CDS, NLSY79 (for the mothers in this cohort), NLSY-MC (for their children), and NLSY-YA (for the NLSY79 offspring who have become mothers). The NLSY sources provide the potential for combining data across generations (such as examining the relationships between birthweight, subsequent growth of the child, pregnancy outcomes in young adulthood, and WIC participation). The NLSY sources and PSID-CDS permit longitudinal analyses to examine trends over time in differences between WIC participants and nonparticipants on the outcome measures (for instance, the trend in the difference in birthweights between infants born to women who were on WIC during pregnancy and those born to nonparticipants). These sources could also be used to examine successive pregnancies and birth outcomes for WIC participants and nonparticipants. The birth height and weight data

for the ECLS-K sample could be analyzed in the context of the caretakers' reports of WIC participation during pregnancy and infancy, but the recall period for all of these data is rather long (4 to 5 years).

Health Behaviors

Table 9 also shows the availability of data on two health-related behaviors that the WIC program specifically seeks to influence—breastfeeding and child immunizations. Except for the ECLS-K, all of the sources that provide information on birth outcomes also include information on whether mothers attempted to breastfeed. CSFII and NFSPS also provide this information.

NHANES-III and PSID-CDS are the only principal sources that include information on children's immunizations; however, the data are quite limited. NHANES-III asks whether the child has received a DPT or tetanus shot and how long ago the last shot was received. If the shot record is available, it is used to verify this information. PSID-CDS has only one self-reported item: "Is your child up to date on his/her shots?"

Other health-affecting behaviors, such as smoking, exercise, and selected dietary patterns, may be of interest to analysts as direct outcome measures or as important covariates for such outcomes as birthweight and gestational age. All of the principal sources except CES, CPS-FSS, and SIPP have questions on one or more health-related behaviors (data shown in table 10).

Health Status and Other Health-Related Variables

All of the principal sources have self-reported data on respondents' general health, specific diseases, and/or some measure of healthcare utilization. As indicated in table 9, five of the sources have all three of these types of data: NLSY-YA, NHANES-III, NLSY-79, SIPP, and PSID-CDS. Most of the data on these outcomes are focused on conditions that impede adults' ability to work, attend school, or care for themselves or others. Some nutrition-related diseases are identified, however, such as diabetes and heart disease. NHANES-III also includes self-reported information on the incidence of anemia, as does NLSY-MC and PSID-CDS. Other items of potential relevance to FANP research include parent-reported data on infant and early childhood healthcare that can be found in the

 $^{^{29}\,\}mbox{For children},$ parents or caregivers serve as proxy providers of self-reported items.

Table 9—Information available on nutrition- and health-related outcomes

		FANPs	identified		Physical/ biochemical measures ¹		Health-related behaviors ²		Health status/care		
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Height & weight	Birth outcomes	Breastfeeding	Immunizations	Health conditions ³	Self-assessed health status	Health care utilization
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys		✓									√ 4
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	✓	✓	✓	✓	√ 5		✓		✓	✓	
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)	✓	✓	✓	✓						✓	
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)	✓	✓	✓	✓	√ 6	✓				✓	
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	✓	✓	✓	✓			✓		√ 7		
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	√	✓	✓	✓	√ 8	✓	✓	√ 9	√	✓	✓
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)	√	✓			√ 10	✓	✓		√	✓	✓
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth- Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)	✓	✓			√ 8	✓	✓		√		√
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)	√	✓			√ 5	✓	✓		√	✓	✓
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	✓	✓	✓	✓						✓	✓
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	√ 11	✓	✓	√ 12	✓	✓	✓
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)	√	✓	✓	√						√	✓
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	✓	✓	✓	✓						✓	✓

¹NHANES-III also includes an extensive battery of physical measurements and nutritional biochemistries (see text).

²Other health behaviors are shown in table 10. Self-reported unless otherwise noted.

³Self-reported disease or health conditions.

⁴Out-of-pocket expenses for health care (Quarterly Interview).

⁵Self-reported height and weight.

⁶Measured height and weight.

⁷NFSPS asked if any household member is on a special diet, and if yes, which special diet.

⁸Measured and self-reported height and weight.

⁹Two questions: Ever received DPT or tetanus shot and how long since last DPT or tetanus. Verified with shot record if available.

¹⁰Self-reported weight, height in 1981, 1982 and 1985.

¹¹Measured height and parent-reported weight for focus child in CDS. ¹²One question: "Is your child up to date on his shots?"

Table 10—Information available on behavioral, developmental, and performance-related outcomes

		FANPs	identified			Physical/cogn	itive/emotional status	s or performance	
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Miscellaneous health-related behaviors ¹	Physical development/ performance	Cognitive development/ performance	Emotional/social development/ health	School attendance/ performance
Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys		✓							
Continuing Survey of food intakes by Individuals (CSFII)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				
Current Population Survey-Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)	✓	✓	✓	✓					
Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓2	✓2	√ 2,4	√ 4
National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓				
National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓2	✓2		
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)	√	✓			✓			√ 3	√3
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)	✓	✓			✓	√3	✓2	√ 3	✓2
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)	✓	✓			✓			√ 3	√ 3
National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)	✓	✓	✓	✓				√3	√3
Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	√3	✓2	√ 3	√ 3
Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)	√	✓	✓	✓					√3
Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓			√3	√3

¹Includes exercise, dieting, smoking, alcohol consumption, and drug abuse.

²Measured and self-reported. Parent is proxy for child on self-reported data.

³Self- or parent-reported.

⁴Teacher questionnaire and school records abstraction.

NLSY-MC, NLSY-YA, NLSY79, PSID-CDS, and SIPP. Finally, NHANES-III includes medical and dental assessments for children and adults, plus radiographs and performance tests for persons age 60 and older. Both CSFII and NFSPS include self-reported information on special diets.

Physical, Cognitive, and Emotional Status/Performance

As indicated in table 10, the principal sources provide a variety of data on developmental or performance measures in the physical, cognitive, and emotional/social domains. In the physical domain. NLSY-MC and PSID-CDS provide data on physical development of children (especially motor skills), based on parent reports elicited with standardized scales. ECLS-K has a combination of parent-reported and test-based data on motor skills. NHANES-III has both parent-reported data on physical development for children up to 4 years old and medical assessments for children 5 years and older. These sources also provide objective data on children's cognitive development or performance, ranging from general professional assessments to formal tests of memory, language skills, mathematical skills, and other areas.³⁰

Eight of the sources provide parent-reported data on children's school attendance and performance. Depending on the source, this may include grade attended, incidence of academic and disciplinary problems, or relative ranking in the child's class. NLSY-MC also incorporates the results of a one-time school survey providing data from school records on attendance and grades, as well as descriptive information on school characteristics.³¹ ECLS-K includes periodic teacher surveys, principal surveys, and abstraction of information from school records. Several sources also include data on the social or emotional development of children or on adults' mental health. These data are all parent-reported, except for teacher assessments and school records obtained for the ECLS-K.

Potential Data Sources

The data sources described in this section are considered "potential" because, although they include useful data, they have limitations that the previously described principal data sources do not. Some potential sources are not useful at the present time because they either include no information on FANP participation or have a critical gap in this information (for example, a source that includes information on birth outcomes but not on prenatal WIC participation). ERS has worked with other Federal agencies to fill critical data needs for FANP research; these potential data sources represent further opportunities for ERS to fill information gaps through collaboration with sponsoring agencies and organizations.

Other potential sources focus on populations that are limited to a specific lifecycle group (such as preschoolers or the elderly) and/or specific States or localities. Although less useful than the nationally representative data sources described in previous sections, these sources can be used for case study or exploratory analysis.

Nutrition- and health-related measures available in the potential data sources are often (but not always) of lower quality than comparable measures in principal data sources. For example, a potential data source might include parental reports about cognitive performance, while comparable data in principal sources are based on results of standardized tests administered by trained field staff. As described below, some of the potential sources have high-quality outcome data, but these sources have other important limitations.

The following sections describe each of the potential sources, grouped by their major limiting factor. Each section includes a table that summarizes available information on FANP participation and nutrition- and health-related measures. Except as noted in this section, all of the potential sources have public-use data sets, available now or planned for the near future.

Sources with Poor Match Between Program and Outcome Data

These data sources (table 11) have both FANP participation data and potentially useful nutrition- or health-related measures, but the combination of these data does not offer a strong basis for relating program

³⁰ NLSY-79 is unique among these sources in providing cognitive test scores and school transcript data for youth and young adults, but these data are of limited usefulness because they were collected in 1980-83.

³¹ To obtain the school survey data, users must make special arrangements with the data repository, at the Center of Human Resources Research, Ohio State University.

Table 11—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources with poor match between program data and nutrition/health measures

	FANPs identified				Nutrition- and health-related measures available							
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Food expend- itures	Food/ nutrient intake	Food sufficiency/ hunger	Physical/ biochemical measures	Birth outcomes	Health- related behaviors	Health status/ care	
Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)		✓			√					✓	✓	✓
Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)		✓						√	✓	✓	✓	✓
National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)		✓						✓	✓	✓	✓	✓
National Household Education Survey (NHES)	✓	✓	√ 1	√ 1		✓	✓		✓	✓	✓	✓
National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)	✓	✓				✓		✓		✓	✓	✓
National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG)		✓							✓	✓	✓	

¹NHES identifies children receiving free or reduced-price meals through NSLP or SBP, not differentiated between programs.

participation and outcomes. In some cases, the program participation data do not provide enough detail or cover the time period when the outcomes in question were shaped. A common problem is relatively short-term participation data in a source for which the strongest outcome data represent long-term impacts. Another issue with these sources is that they often do not have any data on the FANPs that are intended to affect the measured outcomes. In particular, several sources (such as the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey) have strong health outcomes that might reflect WIC impacts, but these sources do not have WIC participation data. Finally, some sources have relatively well-documented FANP participation but do not have strong outcome measures. At present, these sources are more useful for descriptive analyses comparing participants with nonparticipants than for impact analyses, but several of the sources could be useful for impact analyses if the necessary data were added.

Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)

The ACL is an ongoing panel study of the lives of older adults, including activities, relationships, and responses to acute and chronic stress. The study pays particular attention to racial and other demographic differences in these dimensions. The study panel is nationally representative of the continental U.S. population age 25 and older, with oversampling of African-Americans and persons 60 and older. Inperson interviews were conducted in 1986 and 1989; the third wave, in 1994, was conducted mainly by telephone. A fourth wave is planned in 2001. The combined Wave 1/Wave 2 dataset includes 2,867 respondents.³² The surveys have been conducted by the Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan, with funding and oversight from the National Institute on Aging.

ACL identifies FSP participants but, to date, has included few outcome items likely to be observably affected by FSP participation, once the determinants of FSP participation are controlled for. The outcome most directly related to FSP participation is food expenditures, but these data are much less detailed than in the CES or even the CPS-FSS. The data are rich in measures of health status, healthcare utilization, cognitive performance, emotional health, and health-related

behaviors. These outcomes could be related to long-term FSP participation patterns, but ACL only determines whether the respondent households received food stamp benefits in the 12 months before each interview. The longitudinal nature of this study would make it a candidate for analyses of changes in food security over time, if a food security module could be added. It is important to note, however, that the panel is relatively small, so the sample of households with some form of food insecurity is likely to be quite small.

Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)

The MEPS collects data on healthcare use, expenditures, sources of payment, and insurance coverage from a panel representing the U.S. civilian noninstitutionalized population.³³ MEPS is the successor to the National Medical Care Expenditure Surveys conducted in 1977 and 1987. The first panel of 10,000 families and 24,000 persons was drawn from respondents to the 1995 National Health Interview Survey (described below). Beginning in 1996, each household in this panel was interviewed five times over 2½ years, generally in person.³⁴ The data cover all household members for the period from January 1996 through December 1997. A new panel is initiated each year, so the overlapping panels provide larger cross-sectional samples for every calendar year. In addition, MEPS surveys respondents' medical providers, employers, and insurance providers to supplement and validate the household survey data. The Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) and the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) jointly oversee the MEPS.

The only FANP identified in the 1996-1997 MEPS panel was the FSP. The Round 5 questionnaire asked if anyone in the household received food stamps in 1997 and, if so, the number of months of receipt and the monthly value of the benefit.³⁵

³² The number of respondents for the 1994 wave is not available at present.

³³ The MEPS has a separate survey of nursing homes and residents, not described here.

³⁴ The final wave of interviews with each household was conducted by telephone except where this method was not considered feasible or suitable.

³⁵ The available data documentation for 1996 surveys did not reference FSP participation and the corresponding questionnaire was not available on the MEPS web site. Therefore, the availability of these data for 1996 is uncertain.

Nutrition- and health-related measures of potential interest include number of births and birthweight. For children, health status data include immunization status and height and weight (all parent-reported). Each household member is checked against a roster of potential health conditions (including diseases and disabilities). Extensive data on all types of healthcare utilization are obtained. Clearly, if WIC participants were identified in future MEPS panels, there would be interesting opportunities for analyses of these data.

National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)

The NHIS is a major annual survey of the health and demographic characteristics of the U.S. civilian population. The NHIS collects data on the incidence of acute and chronic conditions, injury, physician visits, hospitalizations, and related topics, using a stable core questionnaire and a changing series of modules on current health topics. The NHIS was started in 1957 and is currently conducted by the Bureau of the Census for the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). Each year, the NHIS conducts personal interviews with a nationally representative, multistage probability sample of over 100,000 persons (including adults and children) in over 40,000 households. African-Americans and Hispanics have been oversampled since 1995. The NHIS sample serves as the sample frame for a growing number of health surveys, including the National Survey of Family Growth and the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. NHIS public-use data are available from the Census Bureau and from NCHS.

The NHIS includes data on FSP participation (household participation in the last calendar year, identification of individual participants, and number of months of receipt for the period), but no information is available on participation in other FANPs. A particularly unfortunate (but remediable) gap is the lack of information on WIC participation, given the presence of birthweight data for infants and other outcomes of particular interest to the WIC program.

All of the outcome measures in the NHIS are healthrelated. In addition to infant birthweights, particularly notable measures include self/parent-reported height and weight information for children and adults, presence of diseases such as hypertension and diabetes, and healthcare utilization (inpatient and outpatient). Other outcomes available from NHIS include health-related behaviors (smoking, exercise, etc.), child behavior problems, and health status of children and adults.

National Household Education Survey (NHES)

The NHES is an ongoing program for collecting information on educational issues from national cross-sectional samples of households. NHES data collection began in 1991; subsequent surveys were conducted in 1993, 1995, 1996, 1999, and 2001. According to the sponsor, the National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES), further surveys are planned for 2003 and every 2 years thereafter (NCES, 1997). All NHES interviews are conducted by telephone. About 60,000 households are screened for eligibility, and minority households are oversampled. The exclusive use of telephone interviews is an important limitation of the NHES, particularly with respect to characterizing lowincome populations that are more likely to be missed by such surveys.

The topics, relevant populations, and sample sizes vary from one round of the NHES to the next. The 1991 topics were early childhood education (14,000 parent respondents with children ages 3-8) and adult education. In 1993, the topics included school readiness (11,000 parent respondents with children ages 3-7) and safety and discipline. In 1995, the topics were the same as for 1991, with a similar sample of 14,000 for the early childhood program participation component. The 1996 topics were involvement in education and adult and youth civic involvement. Plans for the 1999 interviews included 24,600 interviews with parents of children from birth through 12th grade, 7,913 youths in 6th through 12th grade, and 6,697 adults age 16 and older not enrolled in grade 12 or below. The 1999 parent interview topics included before- and after-school childcare, early childhood program participation, and school readiness.36

Both the 1993 school readiness and the 1995 early childhood program participation components obtained data on FSP and WIC participation, as did the 1999 parent interview, which covered both of these topics. The 1993 survey asked about any food stamp receipt in the focal child's first 5 years (for children in kindergarten or higher grades) and any WIC receipt

³⁶ Documentation on the 2001 NHES is limited and the data are not yet available, so the discussion in this report is limited to the 1991-1999 surveys.

since birth. For the FSP, the number of months or years of receipt was obtained.³⁷ This survey also asked about receipt of free or reduced-price meals (breakfast or lunch, undifferentiated) for preschoolers in daycare centers and children in kindergarten or higher grades. The 1995 and 1999 surveys used the preceding 12 months as the reference period for FSP and WIC participation, but did not collect data on other food assistance programs.

The 1993, 1995, and 1999 surveys included some health-related measures, but only the 1993 survey has information about hunger and food intake. The 1993 survey had one very limited but conceivably interesting hunger question: whether the focal child has gone without food for one-half day or more during the last month. The meal-eating-pattern questions in the survey also were limited, asking how often the child eats breakfast (per week) and how often a family member prepares a hot meal for the child.

Among the available health-related measures, the question of greatest potential interest is the child's birthweight, which was obtained by the 1993 and 1995 surveys. Unfortunately, neither of these surveys included data on maternal receipt of WIC during pregnancy. The 1993 data do identify lifetime WIC receipt by the child, which could conceivably be used as a proxy, but low birthweight is a major nutritional risk that may be used to qualify infants of non-WIC mothers to receive WIC benefits.

The 1993, 1995, and 1999 surveys obtained indicators of physical or cognitive development and school performance. These included grade attended, class standing, behavior problems, and academic problems or areas requiring special help. All three surveys also asked numerous questions on disability and developmental delays, as well as about the child's general health status and routine healthcare. The 1993 and 1999 surveys asked parents a series of questions about preschoolers' development of abilities in the areas of colors, letters, and counting, plus (in 1993 only) questions on the reading ability of school-age children.

National Longitudinal Study of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)

The NLSY97 is the latest cohort in the series of the National Longitudinal Studies described in the section on principal data sources. It is a continuing longitudinal survey of a nationally representative cohort of 9,000 youths who were ages 12-16 at the end of 1996, with oversamples of African-Americans and Hispanics. This survey has substantial data on FANP participation, but it is considered merely as a potential source at present because of its limited data on nutrition and health outcomes.

The purpose of the study is to gather information about the lives of the study cohort, with particular attention to the transition from school to work and to the relationships between this process and the characteristics of the youths, their families of origin, the families they form, and their environments. These data will be gathered through periodic in-person interviews with the youths and their parents, surveys of the youths' schools, collection of transcripts and existing standardized test scores, and administration of the Armed Services Vocational and Aptitude Battery (ASVAB). Initial school surveys were conducted in 1996, and the first youth and parent interviews were conducted in 1997. The NLS program of which NLSY97 is part is directed by the BLS. The National Opinion Research Center (NORC) manages and conducts the survey under contract to BLS. The Center for Human Resource Research, Ohio State University, provides other support, including creation of variables, data documentation, and dissemination.

The NLSY97 provides data on FSP and WIC participation, both for youths living with a parent or guardian and independent youths, but has no participation data for NSLP or SBP. The 1997 parent interview asked whether the household received food stamps in 1996 and, if so, the total value of benefits for the year. For both WIC and FSP, this instrument also obtains the number of years the child's parents received the benefit during the last 5 years. For independent youths, the 1997 youth interview obtained a more detailed FSP history, including current receipt, any prior receipt, start and end dates of the first spell, total weeks of FSP benefits, average monthly amount of FSP benefits, and all persons covered by the FSP benefits. For WIC, the youth questionnaire asked the same questions, including the average monthly value of the benefits (in terms of the expected cost to buy the items obtained

³⁷ The survey collected income data only for the most recent year. This information provides only a crude basis for identifying children who were eligible nonparticipants in FSP or WIC over the covered period of 5 years or more. This problem does not affect analyses using the school breakfast/lunch participation variable, which is short term.

with WIC benefits). It is important to note that, given the age range of the cohort at the start of the study, the early years of the survey will include relatively few independent youths, and therefore the sample sizes for this population will be small.

At present, the NLSY97 offers limited information on food intake/habits. Youths are asked how often they eat breakfast on school days (regardless of the source of food) and how often they eat green vegetables or fruit. Both parent and youth questionnaires obtain reports of the youth's height and weight; the youth questionnaire also asks about perceived overweight or underweight status. The youth survey also includes data on health-related behaviors, diseases, and general health. The parent survey includes items on physical, emotional, or mental limitations affecting the youth's schooling or work. In the future, stronger measures of cognitive development and school performance are expected to be available from the tests administered by the NLSY97 and from school records.

The future value of the NLSY97 to FANP research depends largely on whether nutrition- and health-related measures are expanded from the current set. The basic questions on pregnancy outcomes are of potential value, although the data collected so far do not cover the entire cohort's teenage years. If the fertility-related questions were expanded along the lines of the NLSY79 questionnaire, valuable information on birth outcomes and infant feeding would be available. These data would be especially useful if the WIC questions continue to be asked at the individual level. Further potential would be created if the NLSY79-MC child assessments were replicated in the children of the NLSY79 cohort.

National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG)

The NSFG is a series of surveys of women of childbearing age concerning sexual behavior, marriage/cohabitation, contraception, pregnancy, childbearing, and related aspects of maternal and child health. The NSFG began in 1973 and was conducted every 4 to 7 years thereafter (1976, 1982, 1988, and 1995).³⁸ The next NSFG is planned to take place in 2002 and will include men for the first time. Since 1982, the sample has been representative of all women

aged 15 to 44, regardless of marital or childbearing status. The 1995 NSFG had a sample of 10,847 women, with oversamples of African-American and Hispanic women. All interviews were conducted in person using a computerized instrument, with sensitive data collected via a self-administered module. The 1995 NSFG sample was drawn from the 1993 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) sample, and the 1995 NSFG data include variables from the 1993 NHIS. The NCHS oversees the NSFG and distributes the publicuse files.

The 1995 NSFG identified FSP but not WIC participants, despite the relevance of WIC to maternal and infant health. FSP participation data was collected at the household level, using a 12-month reference period, with no information on the identities of participants, the duration of participation, or the benefit level.

The most notable nutrition/health outcome data in the NSFG are the questions on birth outcomes and breastfeeding. Birth outcome data for each pregnancy include live vs. still birth, gestational age, and birthweight. The breastfeeding data are collected for each named infant. These data include incidence of ever breastfeeding, problems encountered, age at introduction of other foods, age at weaning, and reasons for weaning. Questions on disease and medical conditions elicit information on anemia, diabetes, and high blood pressure, both during and outside of pregnancy, and on infertility. The NSFG also has data on health-related behaviors (especially those related to sexual activity or pregnancy) and on use of maternal healthcare services. Clearly, the utility of this data source for FANP research would be greatly enhanced if information on WIC participation were available.

Sources with Limited Populations

The sources listed in table 12 have some information on FANP participation data and some nutrition- and health-related measures; however, they are not considered principal sources because their samples come from relatively narrow populations. One of the four, the Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program-Second Cohort (CCDP2), contains data from a set of 10 demonstration sites that are not nationally representative. Two of the studies represent cohorts of two different age ranges among the elderly population. The other study, the National Immunization Survey, is limited to children aged 19 to 35 months.

³⁸ A followup to the 1988 NSFG was conducted in 1990. This survey was not considered for the review because the main data collection occurred before the 1990 cutoff.

Table 12—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources that have limited populations

		FANI	Ps identi	fied		Nutrition- and health-related measures available							
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Food expend- itures	Food/ nutrient intake	Food sufficiency/ hunger	Physical/ biochemical measures	Birth outcomes	Health- related behaviors	Health status/ care	status or	
Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program—Second Cohort (CCDP2)	√	✓				√	√		√	√	√	✓	
Health and Retirement Study (HRS)		✓			✓		✓			√	√	✓	
National Immunization Survey (NIS)	✓									✓			
Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)	✓	√ 1				√2	√3	√4	✓	✓	✓		
Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics Among the Oldest Old (AHEAD)		✓			✓		✓	√		✓	√	√	

¹FSP data in Prams are collected only in some States.

²Some States collect information on use of vitamin supplements and/or folic acid during pregnancy.

³Some States ask limited question(s) on hunger/lack of food.

⁴Some States collect information on maternal weight gain during pregnancy.

Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program—Second Cohort (CCDP2)

The Comprehensive Child Development Program (CCDP) was first funded by the Department of Health and Human Services' Administration on Children, Youth, and Families (ACYF) in 1989. The overall goal of the program was to provide early and comprehensive services to enhance child health and development and to support families in gaining economic self-sufficiency. Two evaluations of CCDP have been conducted for ACYF by Abt Associates Inc. The first one covered the first cohort of 22 sites (CCDP1), and the second covered the second cohort of 10 sites (CCDP2).³⁹ Both evaluations used random assignment designs and gathered rich data on the development of focal children in the sampled families (both treatment and control) from the time of program entry until the child's third birthday.⁴⁰ To enter the sample, the family had to have income at or below the poverty level, and the mother had to be pregnant or within 12 months postpartum.

Only CCDP2 was considered for this review, however, because it is the only one of the two evaluations that provides both FSP and WIC participation data. The 10 sites are not nationally representative, but were selected on the basis of the respective sponsoring organizations' willingness and ability to oversee CCDP operations. Nevertheless, the sites are quite diverse, including rural, urban, and suburban areas and varying minority populations and representing four of the seven FNS regions.

CCDP2 had a sample of over 2,000 families, each with a focus child. Approximately half of the CCDP2 families were in the treatment group. Inclusion of this group may not be problematic for analyses of FSP or WIC impacts, because the CCDP does not appear to have been effective. Although the sample frame initially included only households under 100 percent of poverty, only 72 percent of children were at or below the poverty line by 2 years of age. Because of

the random assignment feature of the CCDP evaluation, the evaluation drew convenience samples from the pool of families recruited for the program, rather than probability samples of eligible children within the sites.

CCDP2 includes data collected in person at program entry, 1 year later, and at the child's second and third birthdays. The baseline data includes demographic information such as race, income, and employment. Because CCDP was hypothesized to have a wide range of effects on both children and their families, the followup surveys were designed to collect information on a variety of outcome measures for both children and their mothers.

Short-term WIC and FSP participation data were collected from parents or caregivers at the focal child's second and third birthdays. For the FSP, these data include incidence of benefit receipt, duration of participation, and last benefit amount during the preceding 6 months. For WIC, current enrollment status was determined for the focal child, the caregiver, and other children in the household.⁴² Thus, this study does not provide a full history of FSP or WIC participation for the entire period of the focal child's development, nor on participation during the prenatal period—crucial limitations in light of the study's focus on developmental measures. The study does, however, provide income and household-size data needed for identifying eligible nonparticipants.

Available nutrition and health measures include both short- and long-term measures for the focal child derived from the parent/caregiver interviews. The short-term measures include limited indicators of food sufficiency and hunger; data on regularity of meals and consumption of certain food groups (milk, cereals, fruits and vegetables) and nutrients (added sugar, salt, and fats); health status; a detailed immunization history; infant feeding practices; and healthcare utilization. Long-term measures of motor, cognitive, and emotional/social development are available from a battery of assessments performed by the data collectors.

³⁹ The CCDP2 evaluation has been completed but not yet released.

⁴⁰ CCDP1 also collected data at ages 4 and 5 (St. Pierre et al., 1997).

⁴¹ The CCDP1 evaluation did not find any impacts when treatment and control groups were compared.

⁴² At ages 2 and 3, 54 and 43 percent of focal children, respectively, were enrolled in WIC. (Source: Tabulations by Abt Associates Inc.)

Health and Retirement Study (HRS)

The HRS is a longitudinal study of the lives of a nationally representative panel of older adults, focusing on retirement choices, the transition to retirement, and coping with illness and limitations in later life. The HRS began in 1992 with a survey of a panel of 12,600 adults, including persons aged 51 to 61 and their spouses. Followup surveys have been conducted every 2 years, the latest in 2000.⁴³ Primary data collection includes a combination of telephone and in-person interviews, along with self-administered (mail) questionnaires. In addition, pension and health insurance data have been extracted from employer records, and earnings and benefit data have been obtained from the Social Security Administration's files. The study is conducted by the Institute for Social Research with support from the National Institute on Aging. Starting with the 1998 wave, it is linked through a common questionnaire and data collection process with the Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old, which is discussed later in this section.

HRS gathers data on participation in FSP and Meals on Wheels. For the FSP, Waves 2 and 3 of HRS (the 1994 and 1996 surveys) gathered monthly participation data covering the 2 years between interviews, including the last benefit amount received before the interview. For Meals on Wheels, the surveys ask only whether the respondent's household had ever used the program in the 2 years prior to the interview.

HRS includes data on food expenditures, food sufficiency, and hunger, but the measures are relatively weak when compared with those of the principal sources. The food expenditure data are approximate weekly averages (over a 2-year period) for food purchases, additional food delivered to the home, and meals eaten out. There is one food sufficiency question ("In the past two years, have you always had enough money to buy the food you need?") and one hunger question ("At any time in the last two years have you skipped meals or eaten less than you felt you should because there was not enough food in the house?"). 44

Health-related measures include a series of memory tests administered during the interviews. Questions on the incidence of disease ask, among other things, about high blood pressure and diabetes. Other health-related measures include health care utilization and expenses (out-of pocket and paid by insurance), general health status, health-related behaviors (smoking, exercise, and alcohol use), and emotional health/depression.

National Immunization Survey (NIS)

The NIS collects information on the immunization coverage of children 19 to 35 months of age. As the monitoring tool for the National Immunization Program, the NIS is designed to provide rapidly available, statistically valid four-quarter moving averages for each of the 50 States, the District of Columbia, and 27 metropolitan areas.

NIS data collection began in 1994 and is ongoing. Each quarter, approximately 8,580 interviews are completed, but over 400,000 random-digit dial (RDD) screening interviews are conducted to identify eligible households. These screening interviews provide the potential for conducting other surveys from the same initial RDD sample frame. To improve the accuracy of vaccination data, providers identified by survey respondents are mailed a self-administered questionnaire. The NIS is funded and overseen by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC); the current survey contractor is Abt Associates Inc.

A key issue concerning the use of the NIS to study FANP outcomes is the exclusive reliance on telephone interviews. Other sources (principally the National Health Interview Survey, or NHIS) have shown that children in households with telephones tend to have higher immunization rates and higher family incomes than those in households without telephones. 45 The NIS uses NHIS data on households without telephones to adjust the estimates of overall immunization coverage; the results are comparable to the NHIS and other immunization data (Abt Associates, 1996). It is not clear whether similar methods could be used to refine comparisons of WIC participants with eligible nonparticipants. A related issue is whether the NIS data can reliably identify either subgroup, given the challenges in this area encountered even by longitudinal studies using both telephone and inperson interviews.46

⁴³ The information on HRS content in this report is based on the 1992-96 questionnaires. The 1998 and 2001 questionnaires are available online at www.umich.edu/~hrswww/docs/qnaires/online.html.

⁴⁴ Wording from Wave 3 questionnaire, downloaded from www.umich.edu/~hrswww.

⁴⁵ The NHIS is a potential source for FANP outcomes analysis, as discussed later in the section on potential sources.

Information on FANP Participation. The NIS has several items on WIC participation that were added in 1997 and funded by USDA. No other information on FANP participation is available. The exclusive focus on WIC participation is a logical one and reflects the recent emphasis on using WIC nutrition education as a vehicle for promoting childhood immunizations. For each child in the survey (i.e., age 19 to 35 months), the NIS asks whether the child has ever received WIC; the age (in months) at first receipt; current receipt status; age at last receipt for former recipients; and whether WIC benefits were interrupted for 6 or more months. The NIS also asks whether the WIC program has checked the child's immunization record. Household size and income data are available to identify eligible nonparticipants in the age range covered by the survey.

Nutrition- and **Health-Related Measures.**The NIS has comprehensive information on children's receipt of age-appropriate vaccinations from both parent interviews and followup contacts with medical providers. No other nutrition or health outcome data are obtained by the NIS.

A public-use file of the 1999 NIS data and related documentation are available from the NCHS website (www.cdc.gov/nis/default.htm).

Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)

The PRAMS is a surveillance system operated by the CDC and State health departments. Started in 1987 to address concerns about infant mortality rates and the incidence of low birthweight, PRAMS is a population-based survey of women who delivered live-born infants. The survey measures maternal attitudes and behaviors prior to, during, and immediately following pregnancy. The overarching goal of the surveillance system is to provide State health officials with State-specific data on maternal characteristics that can be used to plan and assess health programs for mothers and infants. In 2000, 24 States, plus the District of Columbia and New York City, participated in PRAMS (Liscomb, Johnson, and Morrow, 2000).

PRAMS sampling and data collection methodology are standardized across States. Each month, every State samples 100-250 eligible women from State birth

certificate files. Most States oversample low birthweights, and several States stratify their samples by race or ethnicity. Data are collected through a mail survey, with mail and telephone followup. In 1998, the latest year for which data are available, samples in States with fully implemented PRAMS systems ranged from 1,506 to 3,322 (Liscomb, Johnson, and Morrow, 2000).

The PRAMS survey includes a core set of questions, administered by all participating States, as well as a State-specific set. The CDC periodically revises the core survey in response to new areas of interest and areas needing improvement (Liscomb, Johnson, and Morrow, 2000). States may develop and test their own survey items or use additional (optional) items developed by CDC, referred to as "standard" questions. In addition to survey data, the PRAMS database includes information on demographic and health characteristics for each mother and infant, extracted from State vital statistics records.

The core portion of the PRAMS questionnaire collects information as to whether the woman participated in WIC during her pregnancy. Some States collect additional information on when the woman enrolled in WIC, whether her infant is enrolled in WIC, and, if not, the reasons why. Some States collect information on whether respondents participated in FSP during their pregnancies. Currently, no States collect information on the duration or size of FSP benefits.

Information available from the PRAMS core questionnaire (used by all States) includes data on prematurity (expected due date and actual delivery date), use of neonatal intensive care, infant mortality, infant and maternal morbidity, breastfeeding, use of drugs, alcohol, and cigarettes during pregnancy, and health care access and utilization. Some States collect additional data in these areas and/or data on maternal weight gain during pregnancy, food insufficiency, and use of vitamin/ mineral supplements and/or folic acid during pregnancy.

Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old (AHEAD)

The AHEAD is a longitudinal panel study of adults 70 and older and their spouses. The study focuses on the interplay between changes in health in later life and the resources to cope with these changes, including personal economic resources, government programs, and family supports. AHEAD began with a 1993-94 survey (Wave 1) of a nationally representative sample

 $^{^{\}rm 46}$ Response rates for the NIS are not reported on the websites for the NIS. Consult the NIS web site at www.nisabt.org for further study design information.

of 8,222 noninstitutionalized persons (7,447 of them 70 or older). The study oversampled African-Americans, Hispanics, and Florida residents. A followup AHEAD survey (Wave 2) was conducted with this panel in 1995-96. To gather data on deceased members, the surviving spouse or another proxy was interviewed in this and subsequent waves. In 1998, the data collection for the AHEAD panel was combined with that of HRS (Health and Retirement study, discussed above), including the questionnaire. All waves have used a combination of in-person and telephone interviews. Study plans include interviews every 2 years and data linkages with SSA earnings and benefits data, Medicare and Medicaid files, and the National Death Index. The study is conducted by the Institute for Social Research with support from the National Institute on Aging.

AHEAD obtains the same monthly data on FSP participation as HRS, covering the 2-year period prior to each survey wave. As in the HRS, the FSP data include the last FSP benefit amount, and the same question on use of Meals on Wheels is asked. Income, age, and household composition data are available to identify eligible nonparticipants.

The relevant outcome measures in AHEAD are largely the same as in HRS. The same questions on food expenditures, food sufficiency, and hunger are asked. Health-related data include measures of cognitive status from a series of memory tests, as well as self-reported data on physical abilities (walking, preparing meals, etc.), health status, health behaviors, diseases, healthcare use, and emotional health. AHEAD also includes self-reported (over the telephone) measures of height and weight.

Sources with No Information on FANP Participation

Finally, the potential sources include two surveys that presently lack FANP participation data but have the potential to be useful to FANP research if appropriate questions are added (table 13). The following text describes each of these sources.

Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)

The BRFSS is a set of annual, State-based surveys of adults that assess the prevalence of personal health practices related to leading causes of disease and death. State health departments use BRFSS data to guide

health promotion and disease prevention programs and to monitor their progress. The BRFSS began in 1984; since 1994, all 50 States, the District of Columbia, and several U.S. territories have participated. All interviews are conducted by telephone under State supervision, using a standard core questionnaire and optional modules. State samples range from 1,200 to 4,000; the national total is over 100,000 interviews. The National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) coordinates the survey, publishes State summary data, and makes electronic microdata available to researchers by agreement.

The BRFSS lacks information on FANP participation but has a number of potentially useful outcome variables. ⁴⁷ Core questionnaire measures include height, weight, medical and dental care usage, incidence of disease (including high blood pressure, high cholesterol, and diabetes), immunization (flu and pneumonia), and general health status. Optional modules include a limited food sufficiency question (concern about enough food in the last 30 days), frequency of consuming specific fruits and vegetables, folic acid supplementation, presence of cardiovascular disease, and weight control practices. Current pregnancy status is asked, and data are collected on annual household income and household size and composition.

National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)

The Add Health study examines the relationships between the health-related behaviors of adolescents in grades 7-12 and their individual, family, school, and community characteristics. Add Health is a national study that collects data from adolescents, parents, and school administrators. The study includes 80 high schools and 54 "feeder schools" selected to represent strata by region, degree of urbanization, school type, ethnic mix, and size. There have been two waves of data collection: Wave 1 in 1994-95 and Wave 2 in 1996. Wave 3 data collection began in August 2001 and is scheduled to end in April 2002. Wave 1 included a self-administered questionnaire completed in school with 90,000 respondents; in-home interviews and vocabulary tests with 20,745 adolescents; in-home interviews with 17,700 parents; and self-administered questionnaires completed by 164 school administrators. Wave 2 included 14,738 followup in-home interviews

 $^{^{\}rm 47}\,\mbox{This}$ description reflects the BRFSS questionnaires through 1999.

Table 13—Summary of key data elements in potential data sources that have no information on FANP participation

		FANPs identified			Nutrition- and health-related measures available							
Data source	WIC	FSP	NSLP	SBP	Food expend- itures	Food/ nutrient intake	Food sufficiency/ hunger	Physical/ biochemical measures	Birth outcomes	Health- related behaviors	Health status/ care	
Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)						✓	✓	✓		✓	✓	
National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)						✓		√		√	✓	✓

with adolescents and 125 self-administered school administrator questionnaires. The Wave 3 sample includes the Wave 1 in-home respondents (now young adults ages 18 to 26) and a new sample of 1,500 current partners of Wave 1 respondents. An important feature of the study is that the school-based sample allows linkage of information about individual adolescents from their siblings, friends, classmates, and romantic partners, as well as contextual information about the school and community. The National Institute of Child Health and Development (NICHD) was the lead funding agency of Add Health. The study is managed by the Carolina Population Center at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.

Add Health did not collect any data on FANP participation in either Wave 1 or Wave 2. There may be FSP participation data from the Wave 3 survey.⁴⁸

In both Wave 1 and Wave 2, the Add Health in-home interviews with adolescents included questions on food intake. The Wave 1 data include questions about which specific types of foods the respondent usually eats for breakfast on a weekday and about the previous day's food frequency by food group. In Wave 2 there is, instead, a single series of questions on beverages and foods consumed the previous day, using a more detailed list of foods.⁴⁹

The Wave 1 and Wave 2 interviews provide a variety of health-related outcome data, generally with the same items in both waves. Respondents reported their heights and weights, as well as perceptions about under/overweight and efforts to gain or lose weight. Other health-related behavior data include several items on exercise and many items on risky behaviors. In the domain of health status and care, the data include general health status, specific symptoms of possible illness, access to health care, and receipt of routine health care services. Several items provide information on school attendance and performance, notably a series of questions on grades received in specific subjects, in addition to the common general questions about problems with behavior or academics and repeating grades. Finally, a series of questions assesses the respondent's emotional health and tendency toward depression. Preliminary information on the Wave 3 survey indicates a continuing focus on health considera-tions, including topics of pregnancy and childbirth.

The potential use of Add Health for FANP outcomes analysis is uncertain. Given the lack of FANP participation data in Waves 1 and 2, these waves cannot be used for outcome analysis, although they might be used as baseline data for future longitudinal analysis. The potential use of Wave 3 data will depend on the availability of the FSP participation data and outcomes likely to be related to FSP participation. Collection of WIC participation data in future waves of this study might open up greater possibilities for exploiting the extensive health outcomes data.

⁴⁸ The Wave 3 survey asks about household-level FSP participation (prior year and current) among the respondents, who are young adults. The availability and quality of these data are yet to be determined.

⁴⁹ Preliminary documentation on the Wave 3 survey does not specify whether food intake data will be available.

References

- Abt Associates Inc. (1996). Sample Design and Procedures to Produce Estimates of Vaccination Coverage in the National Immunization Survey. Online at www.nisabt.org.
- Andrews, M., M. Nord, G. Bickel, and S. Carlson (2000) *Household Food Security in the United States, 1999.* Food and Nutrition Research Report No. 8, USDA, Economic Research Service.
- Bickel, G., S. Carlson, and M. Nord (1999). Household Food Security in the United States, 1995-1998 (Advance Report). Alexandria, VA: USDA, Food and Nutrition Service.
- Brick, P. et al. (1999). 1997 NSAF Survey Methods and Data Reliability. Washington, DC: Urban Institute. Online at www.newfederalism.urban.org.
- Bureau of the Census (1999). Survey of Program
 Dynamics (SPD) 1997: Experimental File Technical
 Documentation (SPD-97). Online at
 www.sipp.census.gov/spd/pubsmain.htm.
- Bureau of the Census (2001). Survey of Program Dynamics Status Report. U.S. Department of Commerce. Online at http://www.sipp.census.gov/spd/pu00strp.htm. Accessed January 4, 2001.
- Burstein, N., M. Fox, J. Hiller, R. Kornfeld, K. Lam, C. Price, and D. Rodda (2000). *WIC General Analysis Project: Profile of WIC Children*. Alexandria, VA: USDA, Food and Nutrition Service. Online at http://www.fns.usda.gov/oane/MENU/Published/WIC/FILES/profile.pdf.
- Castner, L., and S. Cody (1999). *Trends in FSP Participation Rates: Focus on September 1997*. Alexandria, VA: USDA, Food and Nutrition Service.
- Center for Human Resource Research (1999). *NLSY79* 1996 Child and Young Adult Data Users Guide. Columbus, OH: CHRR, The Ohio State University.
- Devaney, B., L. Bilheimer, and J. Shore (1991). The Savings in Medicaid Costs for Newborns and Their Mothers from Prenatal Participation in the WIC Program. Alexandria, VA: USDA, Food and Nutrition Service.

- Dwyer, J., K. Ellwood, A. Moshfegh, and C. Johnson (2001). "Integration of the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals and the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey." *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 101(10): 1142-1143.
- Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB) (1995). *Third Report on Nutrition Monitoring in the United States*. U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Hamilton, W.L. et al. (1997). Household Food Security in the United States in 1995: Summary Report of the Food Security Measurement Project. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates Inc. Report prepared for USDA, Food and Nutrition Service.
- Hamilton, W., and P. Rossi (2001). Effects of Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs on Nutrition and Health: Volume I, Research Design. Food and Nutrition Research Report No. 19-1, USDA, Economic Research Service.
- Hill, M.S. (1992). *The Panel Study of Income Dynamics: A User's Guide*. Newbury Park, CA:
 Sage Publications.
- Interagency Board for Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research (2000). K. Bialostosky, ed., Nutrition Monitoring in the United States: The Directory of Federal and State Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research Activities. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.
- Kowaleski-Jones, L., and G. Duncan (2000). Effects of Participation in the WIC Food Assistance Program on Children's Health and Development: Evidence from NLSY Children. Institute for Research on Poverty. Online at www.ssc.wisc.edu/irp/pubs/dp120700.pdf.
- Lipscomb, L.E., C.L. Johnson, B. Morrow, et al. (2000). *PRAMS 1998 Surveillance Report*. Atlanta, GA: Division of Reproductive Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- National Center for Educational Statistics (1999). Project Summary, Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 1998-99. Online at www.nces.ed.gov/ecls/kindergarten/ksum.htm.

- National Center for Educational Statistics (NCES, 2001). *Early Childhood Longitudinal Study Birth Cohort Study Brief.* Online at http://nces.ed.gov/ecls/Birth/studybrief.asp.
- National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) (2000). Current NHANES on into the 21st Century. Online at www.cdc.gov/nchs/about/major/nhanes/current.htm. Accessed May 4, 2000.
- National Center for Education Statistics (1997). National Household Education Survey: An Overview. Online at www.nces.ed.gov/nhes. Accessed May 25, 1999.
- Ponza, M., J.C. Ohls, L. Moreno, A. Zambrowski, and R. Cohen (1999). *Customer Service in the Food Stamp Program, Final Report*. Prepared by Mathematica Policy Research Inc., for USDA, Food and Nutrition Service, Alexandria, VA.
- Russell, B., M. Leonard, and F. Scheuren (1999). 1997 NSAF Child Public Use File Codebook, National Survey of American's Families (NSAF): Methodology Series No. 11. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Safir A., F. Scheuren, and K. Wang. *National Survey Of America's Families Survey Methods And Data Reliability, 1997 and 1999.* Washington, DC: Urban Institute, undated. Online at http://newfederalism.urban.org/nsaf/survey?methods.html. Accessed 12/26/2001.

- Siegel, P., and S. Mack (1995). Overview of Redesign Methodology for the Survey of Income and Program Participation. U.S. Bureau of the Census.
- St. Pierre, R., et al. (1997). *National Impact Evaluation* of the Comprehensive Child Development Program: Final Report. Prepared by Abt Associates Inc. for U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Children, Youth and Families.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (1992). *The Food Guide Pyramid*. Home and Garden Bulletin Number 1992.
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (1997). *BLS Handbook of Methods*, p. 161.
- Weinberg, D.H., and S.S. Shipp (2000). *The Survey of Program Dynamics-A Mid-term Status Report*. Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau. Online at www.sipp.census.gov/spd/workpaper/summary10.htm.
- West, J., K. Denton, and L.M. Reaney (2000).

 America's Kindergartners: Statistical Analysis

 Report, Early Childhood Longitudinal StudyKindergarten Class of 1998-1999, Fall 1998. U.S.

 Department of Education, National Center for
 Education Statistics.
- West J., K. Denton, and L.M. Reaney (2000). *The Kindergarten Year: Findings from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 1998-99.* Washington DC: National Center for Education Statistics.

Appendix A

Insufficient Data Sources

Include Only Pre-1990 Data

Hispanic Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (HHANES)

Longitudinal Study of Aging

National Children and Health Fitness Study 2, (NCYFS2), Ages 6 Years–9 Years

National Children and Youth Fitness Study 1, (NCYFS1), Ages 10 Years–18 Years

National Medical Expenditure Survey

National Survey of Children

National Survey of Personal Health Practices and Consequences, Wave I and II

Nationwide Food Consumption Survey

Third Wave Prevalence Findings from the Massachusetts Health Care Panel Study

Program Information Not Feasible to Add and/or Limited or Weak Nutrition/Health Measures

American Community Survey

Community Tracking System Household Survey

General Social Survey

Health and Diet Survey/Food Label Use and Nutrition Education Survey

National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS)

National Assessment of Educational Progress

National Hospital Discharge Survey, 1991

National Longitudinal Mortality Study

National Survey of Adolescent Males

National Survey of Families and Households

New Beneficiary Data System

Administrative Database Requiring Complex Linkage to Database Providing Program Participation Information

Income and Assets Supplement to the Medicare Current Beneficiary 1991 Round 1 Public Use Release

Linked Birth/Death Set: Birth Cohort Numerator and Denominator Files, 1987

Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant Reporting System

Medicaid Data System

Medicare Beneficiary File System of the Prospective Payment and Analytic Support Studies Database

Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey 1991 Round 1 Public Use Release

Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey 1992 Access to Care

Medicare National Claims History Files

National Linked File of Live Births and Infant Deaths

National Vital Statistics System

Statistics of Income Family Panel, Family Cross-Section Files

Limited Populations (Including Studies Restricted to Program Participants)

1990 Farm Bill School Lunch Studies

Adult Day Care Study

Assessing Low-Income Children's Changing Environments and Effects on School Readiness

Early Childhood and Childcare Study

Evaluation of the Nutrient Standard Menu Planning Demonstration

Expanded Food and Nutrition Education Report Program System

California Newborn Genetic Screeing

Child Nutrition Meal Cost Methodology Study

Child Nutrition Program Operations Studies

FDPIR Study

Framingham Heart Study, Children's Cohort

Healthy Start Evaluation

Intergenerational Panel Study of Parents and Children

Los Angeles-New York City Immigrant Survey

Measuring Impacts on Children in Evaluations of State Welfare Reforms

Menu Modification Demonstration Grants: Evaluation

National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Grants

National Evaluation of Welfare-to-Work Strategies

National Survey of WIC Participants

New Immigrant Survey Pilot Project

Panel Study of Urban Youth: The Transition Out-of-School (Beginning School Study)

PC Data

Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System

Pregnancy Nutrition Surveillance System

Project on Devolution and Urban Change

School Lunch and Breakfast Cost Study

School Nutrition Dietary Assessment - II

State and Local Area Integrated Telephone Survey

Strong Heart Dietary Study

Studies of Welfare Leavers

Study of Latino Families and Early School Performance

Survey of Army Female Basic Trainees

Survey of Heights and Weights of American Indian School Children

WIC Infant Feeding Practices Study

WIC Nutrition Education Assessment Study
WIC Participant and Program Characteristics Studies
Wisconsin Longitudinal Study
Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System

Proprietary data

Ross Laboratories Mothers Survey Mead-Johnson Longitudinal Study

Appendix B

Profiles of Principal and Potential Data Sources

Contents

Principal data sources

Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES): Interview and Diary Surveys

Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII 1994-96, 1998)

Current Population Survey (CPS) Food Security Supplement

Early Childhood Longitudinal Study — Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)

National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS, 1996-97)

National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, Third Round (NHANES-III)

National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1979 Cohort (NLSY79)

National Longitudinal Survey of Youth—Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)

Supplements (NLSY-MC) and National Longitudinal Survey of Youth—Young Adults (NLSY-YA)

National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)

Panel Study of Income Dynamics and Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)

Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)

Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)

Potential data sources

Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)

Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)

National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)

National Household Education Survey (NHES)

National Longitudinal Study of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)

National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG)

Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program—Second Cohort (CCDP2)

Health and Retirement Study (HRS)

National Immunization Survey (NIS)

Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)

Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old (AHEAD)

Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)

National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)

The next page starts the first profile in the Principal Sources category.

Profile of: Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: n	ow				
Type of Resear	ch survey						
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Labor						
Time Frame for	Data Collection:						
Start Year:	1980	Latest Year Availal	ble: 1999				
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 4 ti	ime(s) every year				
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:					
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: ✓ Probability Sample					
☑ Ages 5-18		Oversampling					
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:					
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:					
Infants		Sample Size:	5000				
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1998				
✓ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	82 %				
Other Population	ons:						
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Par	ticipant Identified:				
In-Person		□ wic					
Telephone		✓ FSP					
Mail		☐ NSLP					
Observe		☐ SBP					
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACEP					
☐ Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:	school meals-unspecified				
Performance	test						
Record Review		✓ Are eligible non-participants included?					
Diary			D1000340 5400 500000				
Diet Recall							
Other Methods							

Profile of: Consumer Expenditure Surveys (CES) Interview and Diary Surveys Outcome ✓ Food Availability/Spending □ Physical/Biochemical ☐ Birth Outcome ☐ Food Sufficiency/Hunger ☐ Height Physical/Cognitive/ ☐ Food Security (full battery) ☐ Weight Emotional Development/ Limited Food Sufficiency ☐ Head Circumference Capabilities Skinfold Physical Dev/Perf Limited Hunge ■ Biochemical Indicators Cognitive Dev/Perf ☐ Food / Nutrient Intake Food Intake ✓ Health Status/Care Emotional / Social Dev/Health ■ Nutrient Intake ■ Mortality School Attendance/ Health-Related Behaviors. Disease Performance Breastfeeding ✔ Health Care Utilization Immunization General Health Other Health Related Behavior ■ Nutritional Status Other Outcomes: Demographic ✓ Age/Birthday ✓ Region ✓ Income ✓ Household Size ✓ Gender ✓ Education **✓** Poverty Marital Status **V** Race ☐ Functional Status ✓ Employment ✓ Welfare Ethnicity Fertility Health Insurance **Technical Contact:** Organization Division of Consumer Expenditure Surveys, BLS Address: Branch of Information and Analysis Postal Square Building, Room 3985, 2 Mass. Ave. NE Washington D.C. 20212-0001 Internet address: http://www.bls.gov/csxcont.htm ContactPhone (202)606-6900 FAX: Available CD-ROM+ Cost Varies data format: Add'l Data Access Contact: Organization: Bureau of Labor Statistics Address: Division of Financial Planning and Management, Room 4135 2 Massachusetts Avenue, NE Washington, DC 20212-0001 Internet Address: http://www.bls.gov/csxmicro.htm Telephone: (202)691-7794 FAX: (202)691-6640

Comments:

Profile of: Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII 1994-96,1998)

Status:	completed	Data Available: now						
Type of Resear	ch survey							
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Agriculture							
Time Frame for	Data Collection:							
Start Year:	1994	Latest Year Available:	1998					
Type of Cycle:	Períodic	Frequency: time(s) every (see text)					
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:						
Population(s) Surveyed/Studied;		Type of Sampling:						
Adults .		✓ Probability Sample						
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling						
✓ Pregnant Women		Groups Oversampled:	low-income households, children					
Postpartum Women		Other Sample:						
Infants		Sample Size:	20607					
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1998					
✓ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	78 %					
Other Population	ons: Includes supplemental sai	mple of 5,104 children						
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Particip	pant Identified:					
In-Person		✓ wc						
Telephone		▼ FSP						
☐ Mail		✓ NSLP						
Observe		☑ SBP						
	y / physical exam	☐ CACEP						
Physical/Chemical Test		Other Programs:						
Performance	test							
Record Revie	W	✓ Are eligible non-participants included?						
Diary								
Diet Recall								
Other Methods								

Profile of: Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII 1994-96,1998) Outcome ✓ Food Availability/Spending ✓ Physical/Biochemical ☐ Birth Outcome ✓ Food Sufficiency/Hunger ✓ Height Physical/Cognitive/ Food Security (full battery) ✓ Weight Emotional Development/ ✓ Limited Food Sufficiency ☐ Head Circumference Capabilities Limited Hunge Skinfold Physical Dev/Perf ■ Biochemical Indicators ☐ Cognitive Dev/Perf Food / Nutrient Intake ✓ Food Intake ✓ Health Status/Care Emotional / Social Dev/Health ✓ Nutrient Intake Mortality School Attendance/ ✓ Health-Related Behaviors ✔ Disease Performance ✓ Breastfeeding Health Care Utilization Immunization ✓ General Health Other Health Related Behavior ■ Nutritional Status Other Outcomes: Demographic ✓ Age/Birthday ✓ Region ✓ Income ✔ Household Size ✓ Gender ✓ Education **✔** Poverty Marital Status ✓ Race ✓ Employment ☐ Welfare Functional Status Ethnicity ✓ Fertility Health Insurance **Technical Contact:** Food Surveys Research Group Organization Beltsville Human Nutrition Research Center-Agricultural Research Service, USDA 10300 Baltimore Avenue, BARC West Address: Building 005, Room 102 Beltsville, MD 20705-2350 Internet address: http://www.barc.usda.gov/bhnrc/foodsurvey/home.ht ContactPhone (301) 504-0170 FAX: (301) 504-0376 Available CD Rom Cost \$90.00 data format: Add'l Data Access Contact: Organization: National Technical Information Service US Department of Commerce Address: Technology Administration Springfield, VA 22161 Internet Address: http://www.ntis.gov 1-800-553-6847 Telephone: FAX: Comments: Disk includes DHKS and technical databases for analysis

Profile of: Current Population Survey Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	ch survey		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Commerce		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1995	Latest Year Available:	1999
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every year
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S Adults	surveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling: ✓ Probability Sample	
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	Hispanics
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	
☑ Infants		Sample Size:	44730
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1995
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	77 %
Other Population	ons:		
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	int Identified:
In-Person		✓ wic	
✓ Telephone		▼ FSP	
☐ Mail		☑ NSLP	
Observe		▼ S8P	
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	✓ CACFP	
Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs: ele	derly nutrition
Performance	test		
Record Review	w	✓ Are eligible non-participal	ants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:			

Profile of: Current Population Survey Food Security Supplement (CPS-FSS)

Outcome								
Food Availabilit	ty/Spending		Physical/Biochemical	1	□ Bir	rth Outcome		
Food Sufficient	cy/Hunger		Height					
✓ Food Secur	rity (full battery)		Weight			ysical/Cognitive/		
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumference			Emotional Developmen Capabilities		
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold			Physical Dev/Perf		
Food / Nutrient Intake			☐ Biochemical Indicators			Cognitive DeviPerf		
☐ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social			
☐ Nutrient Inta	ske		☐ Mortality		200	Dev/Health		
Health-Related	Behaviors	- 5	Disease			School Attendance Performance		
☐ Breastfeedi	ing		☐ Health Care Utiliz	ation		renomance		
☐ Immunizatio	n		General Health					
Other Healt	h Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status					
Other Outcomes:								
Demographic								
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region		✓ Income		V	Household Size		
Gender	✓ Education	ř	✓ Poverty			Marital Status		
Race		ent	✓ Welfare		V	Functional Status		
✓ Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		Health Ins	surance				
Technical Conta	ct;		CPS Staff					
Organization	Bureau of the Census							
Address:	Suitland Federal Cente	er						
	Suitland, MD							
Internet address:	http://www.bls.census	s.gov/cps	/cpsmain.htm					
ContactPhone	(301)457-4100	FAX:	(301)457-4714					
Available data format:	CD-ROM+		Cost	\$150.00				
Add'l Data Acce	ss Contact:		Custome	er Services				
Organization:	Census Bureau							
Address:	Suitland Federal Cente	er						
	Suitland, MD							
Internet Address:	http://www.census.go	v/ftp/pub	/mp/www/tape/msta	p06.html				
Telephone:	(301)457-4100	FA)	C: (888)249-7295	(orders only)				
Comments:	Also online via Census	FERRET	2: 76					

Profile of: Early Childhood Longitudinal Survey Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	ch panel		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Education		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1998	Latest Year Available:	1999
Type of Cycle:	Other	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 6 mo - 2 year intervals
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) Surveyed/Studied:		Type of Sampling:	
☐ Adults		Probability Sample	
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Women		Groups Oversampled:	Asian children, private school students
Postpartum Women		Other Sample:	surious students
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	23000
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1998
☐ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	%
Other Population	ons: kindergarteners entering in 19	98-99	
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participal	nt Identified:
☑ In-Person		✓ wic	
✓ Telephone		FSP	
☐ Mail		✓ NSLP	
Observe		☑ SBP	
✓ Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
☐ Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:	
✓ Performance	test		
Record Revie	w	Are eligible non-participa	ints included?
☐ Diary			
Diet Recall			
Other Methods	self-administered questionnaires		

Profile of: Early Childhood Longitudinal Survey Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K) Outcome ☐ Food Availability/Spending ✓ Physical/Biochemical Birth Outcome ▼ Food Sufficiency/Hunger ✓ Height ✓ Physical/Cognitive/ ✓ Weight ✓ Food Security (full battery) Emotional Development/ ☐ Limited Food Sufficiency ☐ Head Circumference Capabilities Skinfold ✓ Physical Dev/Perf Limited Hunge ☐ Biochemical Indicators Cognitive Dev/Perf Food / Nutrient Intake ✓ Food Intake ✓ Health Status/Care ✓ Emotional / Social Dev/Health Nutrient Intake ☐ Mortality School Attendance/ ✓ Health-Related Behaviors □ Disease Performance Breastfeeding Health Care Utilization Immunization ✓ General Health ✓ Other Health Related Behavior ■ Nutritional Status Other Outcomes: physical activity special education services Demographic ✓ Age/Birthday Region ✓ Income ✓ Household Size ✓ Gender ✓ Education ✔ Poverty ✓ Marital Status **▼** Race ✓ Employment ✓ Welfare ✓ Functional Status ✓ Ethnicity ☐ Fertility Health Insurance **Technical Contact:** Jerry West Organization US Dept. of Education, National Center for Education Statistics Address: 555 New Jersey Ave. NW, Room 417B, Washington D.C. 20208-5651 Internet address: http://www.nces.ed.gov/ecls ContactPhone (202)219-1574 FAX: Available CD-ROM Free Cost data format: Add'l Data Access Contact: Organization: Address: Internet Address: Telephone: FAX: Some files are restricted to licensed users. Comments:

Profile of: National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS 1996-97)

Status:	completed	Data Available: no	W.					
Type of Resear	ch survey							
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Food &	Nutrition Service						
Time Frame for	Data Collection:							
Start Year:	1996	Latest Year Availab	le: 1997					
Type of Cycle:	Other	Frequency: tim	ne(s) every one-time					
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:						
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling:						
Ages 5-18		Oversampling	Probability Sample					
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:						
Postpartum Women		Other Sample:	100					
☑ Infants	COSTO	Sample Size:	3270					
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1997					
✓ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	71 %					
Other Population	ons: low-income only	81407 5 0700000000000	60 1000					
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Parti	icipant Identified:					
In-Person		☑ wic	3					
Telephone		FSP						
Mail Mail		✓ NSLP						
Observe		☑ SBP						
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☑ CACFP						
Physical/Chem	nical Test	Other Programs:	Nutrition Program for the					
Performance	test		Elderly					
Record Review	W	✓ Are eligible non-participants included?						
☐ Diary								
Diet Recall								
Other Methods:								

Profile of: National Food Stamp Program Survey (NFSPS 1996-97)

Outcome					
Food Availabilit	y/Spending		Physical/Biochemica		Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		Height		
Food Secur	ity (full battery)		Weight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development/
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumfere	nce	Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient Intake			☐ Biochemical Indic	ators	Cognitive DeviPerf
☐ Food Intake	Food Intake		Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social
Nutrient Intake			☐ Mortality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Health-Related Behaviors		☑ Disease		School Attendance/ Performance
✓ Breastfeedi	✓ Breastfeeding		☐ Health Care Utiliz	T Gridinance	
☐ Immunizatio	☐ Immunization		General Health		
✓ Other Healt	h Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:	food use, nutrie	nt availabili	Ŋ		
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region	ĝ.	✓ Income		▼ Household Size
Gender	☑ Educat	ion	✓ Poverty		✓ Marital Status
Race	☑ Employ	ment	✓ Welfare		Functional Status
Ethnicity	Fertility		Health Ins	surance	
Technical Conta	ct:				
Organization	Office of Analysis, I	Nutrition an	d Evaluation, Food an	d Nutrition Servi	ice, USDA
Address:	3101 Park Center I	Prive			
	Alexandria, VA 22	302			
Internet address:	http:/www.fns.usde	a.gov/oane	/menu/published/fsp/	fsp.	
ContactPhone	703-305-2017	FAX:	703-305-2576		
Available data format:	CD-ROM		Cost	Free	
Add'l Data Acce	ss Contact:				
Organization:					
Address:					
Internet Address:					
			and the same of th		
Telephone:		F.P.	XX:		

Profile of: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now					
Type of Resear	ch survey						
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services						
Time Frame for	Data Collection:						
Start Year:	1988	Latest Year Available:	1994				
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every ten years				
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:					
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample					
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling					
Pregnant Women		Groups Oversampled:	young children, elderly, black, Mexican-American				
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	DIGUE, MEXICAL PARTERIOR				
✓ Infants		Sample Size:	31311				
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1991				
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	79 %				
Other Population	ons:						
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:				
☑ In-Person		✓ wic					
Telephone		▼ FSP					
☐ Mail		☑ NSLP					
Observe		✓ SBP					
		CACEP					
Physical/Chem	nical Test	Other Programs:					
Performance	est						
Record Review	v	✓ Are eligible non-participa	ants included?				
Diary							
☑ Diet Recall							
Other Methods:							

Profile of: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III

Outcome								
Food Availabilit	w/Spending	V	Physical/Biochen	nical		V	Birth Outcome	
Food Sufficiency/Hunger		- 9	☑ Height			_		
Food Security (full battery)			☑ Weight			V	Physical/Cognitive/	
Limited Food Sufficiency			✓ Head Circumference				Emotional Development/ Capabilities	
Limited Hung	ge		✓ Skinfold				Physical Dev/Perf	
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☑ Biochemical Indicators		ators		Cognitive Dev/Perf	
Food Intake	The second secon	V	Health Status/Care			☐ Emotional / Social Dev/Health		
Nutrient Intal	ke	-	☐ Mortality					
✓ Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease				School Attendance	
☑ Breastfeeding	ng		✓ Health Care Utilization				Performance	
✓ Immunization	1		General Healt	th				
Other Health	Related Behavior		✓ Nutritional Sta					
Other Outcomes:	vision, dental, hea	aring						
Demographic	blood pressure (o), bioelec	trical impedance (o)				
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region		✓ Incom	6			✓ Household Size	
Gender	☑ Educatio	n	✓ Poverty				Marital Status	
Race		ent	✓ Weifare				▼ Functional Status	
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility	✓ Health Insurance		urance				
Technical Contac	ot:		Division	of H	ealth Exam	inati	on Statistic	
Organization	National Center for H	lealth Sta	tistics					
Address:	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention							
	6525 Belcrest Rd., Room 1000							
	Hyattsville, MD 20782-2003							
Internet address:	http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/about/major/nhanes/nh3data				ata			
ContactPhone	(301)436-5979 x1	FAX:	(301)436-8459					
Available data format:	online		Co	ost	free			
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:							
Organization:	U.S. Dept. of Commerce - NTIS							
Address:	5285 Port Royal Road							
	Springfield, VA 2216	1						
Internet Address:	http://www.ntis.gov/	fcpc/cpn	7818.htm					
Telephone:	1-800-553-6847 FAX: 703-605-6900							
Comments:	Also available via Cer	sus FER	RET					

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resea	rch panel		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Labor		
Time Frame fo	r Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1979	Latest Year Available:	1999
Type of Cycle	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 1-2 years
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) Adults	Surveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling; ✓ Probability Sample	
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Wo	men	Groups Oversampled:	Hispanics, blacks,
Postpartum V	Vomen	Other Sample:	economically disadvantaged
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	8636
Preschoolers	8	Sample Year:	1996
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	87 %
Other Populat	ions:		
Data Collectio	n Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified;
✓ In-Person		✓ wc	
Telephone		☑ FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		☐ SBP	
☐ Anthropomet	try / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
☐ Physical/Che	mical Test	Other Programs:	
☐ Performance	test		
Record Revie	PW .	Are eligible non-participa	ants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:	Note: telephone 1987 only		

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 (NLSY79)

Outcome							
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	V	Physical/Biochemical		☑ Birth Outcome		
☐ Food Sufficiency/Hunger			✓ Height				
Food Security (full battery)			✓ Weight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development		
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumferer	nce	Capabilities		
Limited Hunge			Skinfold		☐ Physical Dev/Perf		
Food / Nutrient Intake			☐ Biochemical Indic	ators	Cognitive DeviPerf		
Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social		
■ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health		
Health-Related	Behaviors		☑ Disease		School Attendance/ Performance		
✓ Breastfeedi	ng		✓ Health Care Utiliza	ation			
☐ Immunization	n		☑ General Health				
✓ Other Health	h Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status				
Other Outcomes:							
Demographic							
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size		
Gender	☑ Education	in	Poverty		Marital Status		
✓ Race			✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status		
Ethnicity	Fertility		✓ Health Ins	urance			
Technical Conta	ct		Julie Yates				
Organization	National Longitudina	Surveys					
Address:	Bureau of Labor Sta	tistics					
	2 Mass Ave., Rm.49	45					
	Washington D.C. 202	12					
Internet address:	http://www.stats.bls.	http://www.stats.bls.gov/nlshome.htm					
ContactPhone	(202)606-7388	FAX:	(202)606-4602				
Available data format:	CD-ROM		Cost	\$20.00			
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:		Steve McClaski	e			
Organization:	Center for Human Resource Research						
Address:	NLS User Services						
	921 Chatham Lane, §	Suite 200					
	Columbus, OH 43221						
Internet Address:	http://www.chrr.ohio	-state.ed	u				
Telephone:	(614)442-7366	FA	X: (614)442-7329				
Comments:							

62 • Effects of Food Assistance and Nutrition Programs on Nutrition and Health/FANRR-19-2

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now					
Type of Resear	ch panel						
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Labor						
Time Frame for	Data Collection:						
Start Year:	1986	Latest Year Available:	1998				
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 2 years				
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:					
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample					
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling					
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled: Black,					
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:					
☑ Infants		Sample Size:	5431				
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1996				
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	90 %				
Other Population	ons: children's mothers						
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:				
☑ In-Person		✓ wic					
✓ Telephone		FSP					
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP					
Observe		☐ SBP					
☐ Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACEP					
Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:					
Performance	test						
Record Review	W	✓ Are eligible non-participa	ants included?				
☐ Diary							
☐ Diet Recall							
Other Methods:	child assessment battery						

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Mothers and Children (NLSY-MC)

Outcome		200					
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	2	Physical/B	iochemical	ri .	V	Birth Outcome
☐ Food Sufficiend			☑ Height				
Food Security (full battery)			☑ Weight			V	Physical/Cognitive/
Limited Food Sufficiency			☐ Head Circumference				Emotional Development Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold	d			Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient Intake			□ Biochemical Indicators				Cognitive Dev/Perf
Food Intake		V	Health Sta	tus/Care			Emotional / Social
☐ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality			Dev/Health	
☑ Health-Related	Behaviors		☑ Disease			School Attendance/ Performance	
☑ Breastfeeding	ng		✓ Health Care Utilization				retionnance
☐ Immunization	n		Genera	l Health			
Other Health	Related Behavior		Nutritio	nal Status			
Other Outcomes:							
Demographic							
☑ Age/Birthday	✓ Region	i i	✓ Income				✓ Household Size
✓ Gender	✓ Educat	ion	▼ Poverty				☐ Marital Status
✓ Race		ment	✓ Weifare				▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		Health Insurance				
Technical Conta	ct:		Julie Y	ates			
Organization	National Longitudin	al Surveys					
Address:	Bureau of Labor Statistics						
	2 Mass Ave., Rm.4945						
	Washington D.C. 20	0212					
Internet address:	http://www.stats.bls.gov/nlshome.htm						
Contact/Phone	(202)606-7388	FAX:	(202)606	4602			
Available data format:	CD-ROM			Cost	\$20.00		
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:		Steve	McClaski	ie		
Organization:	Center for Human Resource Research						
Address:	NLS User Services						
	921 Chatham Lane	Suite 200					
	Columbus, OH 4322	21					
Internet Address:	http://www.chrr.ohio-state.edu						
Telephone:	(614)442-7366	FA	X: (614)4	442-7329			
Comments:							

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	rch panel		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Labor		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1994	Latest Year Available:	1998
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every two years
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S Adults	surveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample	
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Wor	nen	Groups Oversampled:	Black, Hispanic (mothers)
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	1672
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1996
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	79 %
Other Population	ons:		
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:
☑ In-Person		☑ wic	
Telephone		☑ FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		SBP	
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
☐ Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:	
Performance	test	77-37-30-30-30-30-30-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-31-	
Record Review	W	✓ Are eligible non-participa	ants included?
☐ Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods	Salf administered questiongains		

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth-Young Adults (NLSY-YA)

Outcome					
Food Availability	y/Spending	V	Physical/Biochemics	ıl 🗸	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		✓ Height		
☐ Food Security (full battery)			✓ Weight	₹	Physical/Cognitive/
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumfere	ence	Emotional Development Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indi	cators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social
Nutrient Intal	ke		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		✓ Disease		✓ School Attendance/ Performance
✓ Breastfeeding	ng		✓ Health Care Utiliz	zation	II COROLECCIONOSERO
Immunization	1		General Health		
Other Health	Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size
Gender	Educatio	n	✓ Poverty		✓ Marital Status
Race	Employm	ent	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	Fertility		Health In	surance	
Technical Contac	ct:		Michael Harrigan		
Organization	National Longitudinal	Surveys			
Address:	Bureau of Labor Stat	tistics			
	2 Mass Ave., Rm.494	15			
	Washington D.C. 202	12			
Internet address:	http://www.stats.bls.	gov/nlsho	ome.htm		
ContactPhone	(202)606-7388	FAX:	(202)606-4602		
Available data format:	CD-ROM		Cost	\$20.00	
Add'l Data Acces	is Contact:		Steve McClask	vie	
Organization:	Center for Human Re	source R	tesearch		
Address:	NSL User Services				
	921 Chatham Lane, S	Suite 200			
	Columbus, OH 43221				
Internet Address:	http://www.chrr.ohio	state ed			
miteriet Mudiess.	students as as a result of our	-91010-00	u .		

Comments:

Profile of: National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now			
Type of Resear	ch survey				
Agency:	Urban Institute-Assessing the	New Federalism			
Time Frame for	Data Collection:				
Start Year:	1997	Latest Year Available:	1999		
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 2 years		
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:			
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling; ✓ Probability Sample			
✓ Ages 5-18		Oversampling			
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	low-income households		
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:			
✓ Infants		Sample Size:	110000		
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1997		
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	63 %		
Other Population	ons:				
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:		
☑ In-Person		✓ wic			
✓ Telephone		▼ FSP			
☐ Mail		✓ NSLP			
Observe		☑ SBP			
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACEP			
Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:			
Performance	test				
Record Revie	w	✓ Are eligible non-participal	ants included?		
Diary					
☐ Diet Recall					
Other Methods					

Profile of: National Survey of America's Families (NSAF)

Outcome				
☐ Food Availabilit	y/Spending		Physical/Biochemical	☐ Birth Outcome
	▼ Food Sufficiency/Hunger		Height	
	ity (full battery)		Weight	☑ Physical/Cognitive/
☑ Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumference	Emotional Development/ Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold	Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indicators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
☐ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care	Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ike		☐ Mortality	Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease	School Attendance/ Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		✓ Health Care Utilization	T Gillorinanoo
☐ Immunization	n		✓ General Health	
Other Health	h Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status	
Other Outcomes:				
Demographic				
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region		✓ Income	✓ Household Size
Gender	✓ Education	į.	✓ Poverty	Marital Status
Race	✓ Employme	m	✓ Welfare	▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		✓ Health Insurance	
Technical Conta	ct:		Alan Weil	
Organization	Urban Institute			
Address:	2100 M Street NW			
	Washington, DC			
Internet address:	http://www.newfedera	alism.url	ban.org/nsaf	
ContactPhone	(202)261-5709	FAX:	(202)728-0232	
Available data format:	online		Cost Free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:			
Organization:				
Address:				
Internal Address				
Internet Address:			v.	
Telephone:		FA	A:	
Comments:				

Profile of: Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS)

ongoing	Data Available: nov	w.
ch panel		
Univ. of Michigan, Institute for Surv	ey Research	
Data Collection:		
1997	Latest Year Available	e: 1997
Periodic	Frequency: 1 tim	e(s) every year
☑ National	Other Scope:	
urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample	
	Oversampling	
en	Groups Oversample	d: low-income, hispanic
omen	Other Sample:	
	Sample Size:	3500
	Sample Year:	1997
	Response Rate:	%
ons: substitute parents, teachers	(CDS)	
Methods;	Programs with Partic	cipant Identified:
	☑ wic	
	☑ FSP	
	☑ NSLP	
	☑ SBP	
y / physical exam	☐ CACEP	
nical Test	Other Programs:	other government food
est		programs (unspec.)
N .	✓ Are eligible non-part	licipants included?
		The second secon
	ch panel Univ. of Michigan, Institute for Surv Data Collection: 1997 Periodic ☑ National urveyed/Studied; en omen Methods; / physical exam lical Test est	Univ. of Michigan, Institute for Survey Research Data Collection: 1997 Latest Year Available Frequency: 1 tim National Other Scope: urveved/Studied: Type of Sampling: Probability Sample Oversampling Groups Oversample: Sample Size: Sample Year: Response Rate: ons: substitute parents, teachers (CDS) Methods: Programs with Particular SBP NSLP SBP (/ physical exam) Incal Test Other Programs:

Profile of: Panel Study of Income Dynamics-Child Development Supplement (PSID-CDS) Outcome ✓ Food Availability/Spending ✓ Physical/Biochemical ✓ Birth Outcome

Outcome					
☑ Food Availability	y/Spending	V	Physical/Biochemical	V	Birth Outcome
☑ Food Sufficience	y/Hunger		☑ Height		
Food Securi	ty (full battery)		✓ Weight	V	Physical/Cognitive/
✓ Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumferen	ce	Emotional Development/ Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indica	tors	✓ Cognitive DeviPerf
Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health
☑ Health-Related	Behaviors		✓ Disease		School Attendance/ Performance
☑ Breastfeedir	ng		✓ Health Care Utilizat	tion	
Immunization	1		General Health		
✓ Other Health	Related Behavior		▼ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
☑ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size
☑ Gender	☑ Education	n.	Poverty		Marital Status
✓ Race		ent	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
☑ Ethnicity	✓ Fertility		Health Insu	rance	
Technical Conta	ct	PSID CD	OS Staff		
Organization	The Panel Study of In	come Dy	namics, Institute for So	cial Research	
Address:	University of Michigan	n			
	PO Box 1248				
	Ann Arbor, MI 48106	1248			
Internet address:	www.isr.umich.edu/s	rc/child-de	evelopment/home.html	i	
ContactPhone	(734) 763-7913	FAX:	(734) 747-4575		
Available data format:	online		Cost	free	
Add'l Data Acces	s Contact:				
Organization:					
Address:					

Internet Address: http://www.isr.umich.edu/src/child-development/data.html

Telephone: FAX:

Comments: See www.isr.umich.edu/src/psid/ for information on PSID core

Profile of: Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now			
Type of Resear	rch panel				
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Commerce				
Time Frame for	Data Collection:				
Start Year:	1984	Latest Year Available:	2000		
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 4 time(s)	every year		
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:			
Population(s) S Adults	Surveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling; ✓ Probability Sample			
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling			
Pregnant Wor	nen	Groups Oversampled:	black, Hispanic, female-		
Postpartum W	fornen	Other Sample:	headed HH		
✓ Infants		Sample Size:	36700		
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1996		
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	77 %		
Other Populati	ons:				
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:		
✓ In-Person		☑ wic			
☐ Telephone		▼ FSP			
☐ Mail		✓ NSLP			
☐ Observe		☑ SBP			
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP			
☐ Physical/Cher	mical Test	Other Programs:			
Performance	test				
Record Revie	w	Are eligible non-participa	ants included?		
Diary					
☐ Diet Recall					
Other Methods:					

Profile of: Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP)

Outcome					
☐ Food Availability	y/Spending	☐ Ph	ysical/Biochemica	1 1	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	Food Sufficiency/Hunger		Height		
Food Securi	ity (full battery)		Weight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
✓ Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		Head Circumfere	ince	Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		Biochemical Indio	ators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
☐ Food Intake		✓ He	alth Status/Care		☐ Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Intal	ke		Mortality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors	V	Disease		School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedir	ng	V	Health Care Utiliz	ation	
☐ Immunization	n	V	General Health		
Other Health	Related Behavior		Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	✓ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size
☑ Gender	☑ Education	on	✓ Poverty		Marital Status
Race		ment	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
✓ Ethnicity	Fertility		✓ Health Ins	surance	
Technical Conta	ct:	Mid	hael McMahon		
Organization	Bureau of the Censu	18			
Address:	Washington, D.C. 20	1233			
Internet address:	http://www.sipp.cer	isus.gov			
ContactPhone	(301)457-3819	FAX:			
Available data format:	online		Cost	free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:				
Organization:	Bureau of the Censu	us-Customer S	Services		
Address:					
Internet Address:	http://ferret.bls.cens	us apvioal.his	eferret		
Telephone:	301-457-4100		888-249-7295		
Comments:	CD-ROM available f			22	
Lomments:	s it laws that guardania f	room cataing a	IT WANTE CARGING NA	MI II	

Profile of: Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now			
Type of Resea	rch panel				
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Commerce				
Time Frame fo	r Data Collection:				
Start Year:	1997	Latest Year Available:	1998		
Type of Cycle	: Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every year		
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:			
Population(s) Adults	Surveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample			
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling			
Pregnant Wo	men	Groups Oversampled:	low-income, with children		
Postpartum V	Vomen	Other Sample:			
☑ Infants		Sample Size:	18500		
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1998		
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	82 %		
Other Populat	ions:				
Data Collectio	n Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:		
☑ In-Person		✓ wc			
☐ Telephone		FSP			
☐ Mail		✓ NSLP			
Observe		☑ SBP			
☐ Anthropomet	try / physical exam	☐ CACFP			
☐ Physical/Che	mical Test	Other Programs:			
Performance	test				
Record Revie	rw .	✓ Are eligible non-participa	ants included?		
☐ Diary					
☐ Diet Recall					
Other Methods:	self-administered questionna	ire with audiocassette			

Profile of: Survey of Program Dynamics (SPD)

Outcome					
Food Availability	y/Spending	☐ Physic	al/Biochemical	1	☐ Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger	☐ He	ight		
Food Securi	Food Security (full battery)		eight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency	☐ He	ad Circumfere	nce	Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge	☐ Sk	infold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake	☐ Bid	chemical Indic	cators	☐ Cognitive DeviPerf
Food Intake		✓ Health	Status/Care		Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Intal	ke	☐ Mo	rtality		Dev/Health
Health-Related		☐ Dis	ease		 School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeeding	ng	☑ He	alth Care Utiliz	ation	
☐ Immunization		▼ Ge	neral Health		
✓ Other Health	Related Behavior	☐ Nu	tritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size
Gender	☑ Education		Poverty		Marital Status
Race	☑ Employme	ent	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		✓ Health Ins	surance	
Technical Conta	ct;	Michael	McMahon		
Organization	Bureau of the Census				
Address:	Washington, D.C. 2023	33			
Internet address:	http://www.sipp.censi	ue anu			
ContactPhone	(301)457-3819	FAX:			
COMMON NOTICE	10017401 0010	· run			
Available data format:	CD Rom		Cost	Varies	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:				
Organization:	Bureau of the Census	-Customer Serv	ices		
Address:					
Internet Address	http://www.census.go	w/mp/www/rom	/msrom.html#	Program	
Telephone:	301-457-4100		38-249-7295		
	Also available via Cens				
comments.	mod available ha cells	SOUTH CHINE I SH	w .		

Profile of: Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	ch panel		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health and Human S	ervices	
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1986	Latest Year Available:	1994
Type of Cycle:	Other	Frequency: time(s)	every intermittent
Scope:	☑ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S	urveved/Studied	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample	
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	blacks, persons 60 years
Postpartum W		Other Sample:	and older
☐ Infants	unien		2007
		Sample Size:	2867
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1989
✓ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	%
Other Population	ons: adults 25 and older		
Data Collection	Methods;	Programs with Participa	int Identified:
✓ In-Person		☐ wic	
☐ Telephone		▼ FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		☐ SBP	
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:	
Performance	test		
Record Review	w	Are eligible non-participa	ants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods			

Profile of: Americans' Changing Lives (ACL)

Outcome				
Food Availabilit	WSpending		Physical/Biochemical	☐ Birth Outcome
Food Sufficiency/Hunger			Height	
	Food Security (full battery)		Weight	✓ Physical/Cognitive/
	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumferen	Emotional Developmen Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold	Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indica	ators
☐ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care	
☐ Nutrient Inta	ike		Mortality	Dev/Health
☑ Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease	School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		✓ Health Care Utiliza	
☐ Immunizatio	n		✓ General Health	
Other Health	h Related Behavior		■ Nutritional Status	
Other Outcomes:				
Demographic				
Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income	✓ Household Size
Gender Gender	☑ Educat	ion	□ Poverty	Marital Status
☑ Race	✓ Employ	ment	■ Welfare	Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		☐ Health Ins	urance
Technical Conta	ct:			
Organization	University of Michig	an, Surve	y Research Center	
Address:	Interuniversity Cons	sortium for	Political &Social Resea	arch
	PO Box 1248			
	Ann Arbor, MI 4810	6		
Internet address:	http://www.icpsr.ur	mich.edu		
ContactPhone	734-998-9900	FAX:	734-998-9889	
Available data format:	online		Cost	free
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:			
Organization:				
Address:				
Internet Address:				
		99	· V-	
Telephone:			X:	
Comments:	CD ROM available to			

Profile of: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now				
Type of Resea						
	100-100 0 1000.					
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services					
Time Frame for	r Data Collection:					
Start Year:	1996	Latest Year Available:	1998			
Type of Cycle:	Continuous	Frequency: time(s)	every			
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:				
Population(s)	Surveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling;				
Adults Adults		✓ Probability Sample				
☑ Ages 5-18		Oversampling				
Pregnant Wor	men	Groups Oversampled:	black, Hispanic			
Postpartum W	Vomen .	Other Sample:				
☑ Infants		Sample Size:	24000			
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1996			
✓ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	78 %			
Other Populati	ons:					
Data Collection	n Methods:	Programs with Participar	nt Identified;			
✓ In-Person		□ wc	166			
Telephone		▼ FSP				
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP				
☐ Observe		☐ SBP				
Anthropometry / physical exam		CACFP				
Physical/Cher	mical Test	Other Programs:				
Performance	test					
Record Revie	nw	✓ Are eligible non-participa	nts included?			
☐ Diary						
Diet Recall						
Other Methods:						

Profile of: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS)

Mary market							
Outcome		-					200200
Food Availabilit		~	Physical/Biocher	nical		V	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	56791175 W		☑ Height				Dhominel (Consistent
	ity (full battery)		✓ Weight			V	Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	100		Head Circum	dere	nce		Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold				Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		Biochemical	Indic	ators		Cognitive Dev/Perf
Food Intake		V	Health Status/Ca	are			Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality				Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		✓ Disease				School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		Health Care I	Jiliza	ation		
✓ Immunization	n		General Heal	th			
Other Health	n Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Sta	atus			
Other Outcomes:							
Demographic							
Age/Birthday	Region		✓ Incom	ю			✓ Household Size
✓ Gender	✓ Education	on	✓ Poverty ✓ Welfare			Marital Status	
✓ Race		ment				▼ Functional Status	
✓ Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		✓ Healt	h Ins	surance		
Technical Conta	ct		Project	Dire	ctor		
Organization	MEPS, Center for Co	ost and Fin	ancing Studies				
Address:	Agency for Health C	are Policy	Research				
	2101 E. Jefferson S	t.					
	Rockville, MD 20852						
Internet address:	http://www.meps.al	hcpr.gov					
ContactPhone	(301)594-1400	FAX:					
Available data format:	online		C	ost	free		
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:						
Organization:	AHCPR Publications	Clearingh	ouse				
Address:	PO Box 8547						
	Silver Spring, MD 20	907					
Internet Address:	http://www.meps.ah	ncps.gov/d	lata.htm				
Telephone:	(800)358-9295	FA	X:				
Comments	Data center for no.s	ite use of	restricted data				

Profile of: National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available:	now	
Type of Resear	ch survey			
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services	ě.		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:			
Start Year:	1957	Latest Year Avai	llable:	1996
Type of Cycle:	Continuous	Frequency:	time(s)	every
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:		
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Samplin	77.00	
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling		
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversar	npled:	black, hispanic
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:		
Infants		Sample Size:		102467
Preschoolers		Sample Year:		1995
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:		94 %
Other Population	ons:			
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with P	Participar	nt Identified:
☑ In-Person		wic		
Telephone		▼ FSP		
Mail		☐ NSLP		
Observe		SBP		
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	CACFP		
Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:		
Performance	test			
Record Revie	w	Are eligible non	n-participa	nts included?
Diary				
☐ Diet Recall				
Other Methods				

Profile of: National Health Interview Survey (NHIS)

Outcome					
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	V	Physical/Biochemical	<u> </u>	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficient	cy/Hunger		✓ Height		
☐ Food Secur	ity (full battery)		✓ Weight	E	Physical/Cognitive/
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumferer	nce	Emotional Development Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold		☐ Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indic	ators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
☐ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		✓ Emotional / Social
☐ Nutrient Inta	ke		Mortality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		☑ Disease		School Attendance/ Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		✓ Health Care Utiliza	ation	renormance
☐ Immunization	n		✓ General Health		
Other Health	n Related Behavior		■ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income		✓ Household Size
Gender		1	☐ Poverty		✓ Marital Status
✓ Race		ent	☐ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
✓ Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		Health Ins	urance	
Technical Conta	ct:				
Organization	Division of Health Inte	erview st	atistics-National Cente	r for Health St	atistics
Address:	Centers for Disease 0	Control a	nd Prevention		
	6525 Belcrest Rd., Rr	n860			
	Hyattsville, MD 20782	-2003			
Internet address:	http://www.cdc.gov/r	nchswwy	w/about/major/nhis/nh	nis.	
ContactPhone	(301)436-7089	FAX:	(301)436-3484		
Available data format:	online		Cost	free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:				
Organization:	U.S. Dept. of Commer	ce - NTIS	3		
Address:	5285 Port Royal Road	i .			
	Springfield, VA 2216	1			
Internet Address:	http://www.ntis.gov/	fcpc/			
Telephone:	1-800-553-6847	FA	X: 703-605-6900		
Comments:	Online via Census FEI	DOET 6	ture CD ROM		

Profile of: National Household Education Survey (NHES)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	ch survey		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Education		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1991	Latest Year Available:	1999
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s	every 1-2 years
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample	
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Worn	en	Groups Oversampled:	minorities (unspecified)
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	10888
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1993
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	90 %
Other Population	ons: parents of children in target g	roups	
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Particip	ant Identified:
☐ In-Person		☑ wic	
☑ Telephone		✓ FSP	
☐ Mail		NSLP	
Observe		SBP	
☐ Anthropometry	y / physical exam	CACEP	
Physical/Chem	nical Test	Other Programs: fr	ree/reduced price school
Performance t	est	m m	neals
Record Review	v	Are eligible non-particip	pants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:			

Profile of: National Household Education Survey (NHES)

Outcome					
☐ Food Availability	v/Spending		Physical/Biochemical		Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	[1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1] [1]	250	Height		
☐ Food Securi			Weight		Physical/Cognitive/
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		Head Circumferer	nce	Emotional Development/ Capabilities
☑ Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indica	ators	☑ Cognitive Dev/Perf
▼ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		☑ Emotional / Social
☐ Nutrient Intal	ke		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease		School Attendance/ Performance
☐ Breastfeeding	ng		☐ Health Care Utiliza	stion	1 directions
☐ Immunization	1		General Health		
Other Health	Related Behavior		■ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
☑ Age/Birthday	Region		✓ Income		▼ Household Size
Gender.	☑ Education	1	☐ Poverty		✓ Marital Status
Race	☑ Employme	ent	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		☐ Health Ins	urance	
Technical Conta	eti				
Organization	US Dept. of Education	, Nation	al Center for Education	Statistics	
Address:	1990 K St NW				
	Washington, D.C. 200	06			
Internet address:	http://www.nces.ed.g	gov/nhes	6		
ContactPhone	202-502-7300	FAX:			
Available data format:	online		Cost	free	
Add'l Data Acces	s Contact;		Nora Arato		
Organization:	ICPSR, University of N	fichigan-	IAED		
Address:	PO Box 1248				
	Ann Arbor, MI 48106-	1248			
Internet Address:	http://www.icpsr.umic	h.edu/ic	ed/nhes.html		
Telephone:		FA	X:		
Comments					

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	rch panel		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Labor		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1997	Latest Year Available:	1999
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every year
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S	surveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: ✓ Probability Sample	
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	blacks, Hispanics
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	10000
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1997
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	%
Other Population	ons: youths 12-16 plus parents (\)	'ear 1 only)	
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:
In-Person		✓ wic	
Telephone		FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		☐ SBP	
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:	
Performance	test		
Record Revie	w	Are eligible non-participa	ants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:			

Profile of: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997 (NLSY97)

Outcome					
☐ Food Availabilit	y/Spending	V	Physical/Biochemical		☐ Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		✓ Height		
Food Secur	ity (full battery)		☑ Weight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		Head Circumfere	nce	Capabilities
Limited Hung	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indic	ators	☑ Cognitive DeviPerf
✓ Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health
✓ Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease		School Attendance/ Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		☐ Health Care Utiliza	ation	
☐ Immunization	n		General Health		
✓ Other Health	Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income		▼ Household Size
Gender	☑ Education	ni:	✓ Poverty		Marital Status
✓ Race	☑ Employm	ent	✓ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
☑ Ethnicity	Fertility		☐ Health Ins	urance	
Technical Conta	ct:		Julie Yates		
Organization	National Longitudinal	Surveys			
Address:	Bureau of Labor Stat	istics			
	2 Mass Ave., Rm.494	5			
	Washington D.C. 202	12			
Internet address:	http://www.bls.gov/ni	ls/home.	htm		
ContactPhone	(202)606-7388	FAX:	(202)606-4602		
Available data format:	CD-ROM		Cost	\$20.00	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:		Steve McClaski	e	
Organization:	Center for Human Re	source F	Research		
Address:	NLS User Services				
	921 Chatham Lane, S	uite 200			
	Columbus, OH 43221				
Internet Address:	http://www.chrr.ohio-	-state.ed	lu		
Telephone:	(614)442-7366	EA	X: (614)442-7329		
Comments:	Selected data on-line	at http:/	/www.bls.gov/nls/y97v	rsdr/nlsvsdr	.htm.

Profile of: National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now					
Type of Resear	ch survey						
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Se	ervices					
Time Frame for	Data Collection:						
Start Year:	1973	Latest Year Available:	1995				
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	very 5-6 years				
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:					
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample					
Ages 5-18		Oversampling					
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	black, Hispanic				
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:					
☐ Infants		Sample Size: 1084					
Preschoolers		Sample Year: 1995					
☐ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	79 %				
Other Population	ons: other women ages 15-44	(in 1982 and later surveys)					
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participan	it Identified:				
In-Person		□ wic	- W				
Telephone		✓ FSP					
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP					
Observe		☐ SBP					
Anthropometry / physical exam		☐ CACFP					
☐ Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:					
Performance	test						
Record Review	W	Are eligible non-participa	nts included?				
Diary							
☐ Diet Recall							
Other Methods:							

Profile of: National Survey of Family Growth (NSFG)

Outcome								
Food Availabilit	y/Spending		Phy	/sical/Biocham	ical		V	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficient	cy/Hunger			Height				
Food Secur	ity (full battery)			Weight				Physical/Cognitive/
☐ Limited Foo	d Sufficiency			Head Circumfe	erer	nce		Emotional Development Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge			Skinfold				Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake			Biochemical In	dica	ators		Cognitive DeviPerf
☐ Food Intake		5	Hei	alth Status/Car	е			☐ Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ike			Mortality				Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		V	Disease				School Attendance Performance
✓ Breastfeedi	ng		V	Health Care Ut	liliza	ation		1 0110111101100
☐ Immunizatio	n		V	General Health	1			
✓ Other Health	h Related Behavior		V	Nutritional Stat	us			
Other Outcomes:								
Demographic								
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region			✓ Income	,			▼ Household Size
Gender	☑ Educati	on	✓ Poverty			✓ Marital Status		
▼ Race	☑ Employ	ment	☐ Welfare			☐ Functional Status		
Ethnicity	Fertility			✓ Health	Ins	urance		
Technical Conta	ct:		Will	am Mosher				
Organization	Division of Vital Sta	tistics						
Address:	National Center for	Health Sta	atistics	4				
	6525 Beicrest Rd., F	Rm 840						
	Hyattsville, MD 2078	32						
Internet address:	http://www.cdc.gov	//nchs/ns	fg.htr	n				
ContactPhone	(301)436-8731	FAX:	(3	01)436-7066				
Available data format:	CD ROM			Con	st	\$60.00		
Add'l Data Acce	ss Contact;							
Organization:	US Dept. of Comme	roe-NTIS						
Address:	5285 Port Royal Rd.							
	Springfield, VA 221	61						
Internet Address:	http://www.ntis/gov	/fcpc/inde	ex.htn	nl				
Telephone:	(703)487-4650	F	AX:	(703)321-854	17			
Comments:	Signed Agreement	required						

Profile of: Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program-Second Cohort (CCDP2)

Status:	completed	Data Available:	now
Type of Resear	ch experiment		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1993	Latest Year Avai	lable: 1997
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1	time(s) every baseline/birthday
Scope:	National	Other Scope:	Demonstration site
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Samplin	
Ages 5-18		Oversampling	
Pregnant Worr	en	Groups Oversan	npled:
Postpartum We	omen	Other Sample:	random assignmen
✓ Infants		Sample Size:	2800
✓ Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1994
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	%
Other Population	ons: participant/control infants/toddle	rs & parents	
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with P	articipant Identified;
☑ In-Person		✓ wc	
☐ Telephone		▼ FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		SBP	
☐ Anthropometry	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
Physical/Chem	nical Test	Other Programs:	govt. donated food
Performance t	est		
Record Review	v	✓ Are eligible non	-participants included?
☐ Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:			

Evaluation of the Comprehensive Child Development Program-Profile of: Second Cohort (CCDP2) Outcome Birth Outcome Physical/Biochemical ☐ Food Availability/Spending ☐ Height ✓ Food Sufficiency/Hunger Physical/Cognitive/ Food Security (full battery) Weight Emotional Development/ ✓ Limited Food Sufficiency ☐ Head Circumference Capabilities ✓ Limited Hunge Skinfold Physical Dev/Perf ■ Biochemical Indicators ✓ Cognitive Dev/Perf Food / Nutrient Intake ✓ Health Status/Care Emotional / Social ▼ Food Intake Dev/Health ✓ Nutrient Intake Mortality School Attendance/ ✓ Health-Related Behaviors ✓ Disease Performance Breastfeeding Health Care Utilization ✓ Immunization ✓ General Health Other Health Related Behavior ✓ Nutritional Status Other Outcomes: vision, dental, hearing immunization Demographic ✓ Age/Birthday ✓ Region ✓ Income ✓ Household Size ✓ Gender ✓ Education ✓ Poverty Marital Status ▼ Race ✓ Employment ✓ Welfare Functional Status ✓ Ethnicity ☐ Fertility ✓ Health Insurance **Technical Contact:** Michael Lopez Organization Office of Research and Evaluation, ACYF Address: 33 C Street, SW Room 2128 Washington, D.C. 20447 Internet address: http://www.acf.dhhs.gov ContactPhone 202-205-8212 FAX: 202-205-9721 Available not yet specified Cost data format: Add'l Data Access Contact: Organization: Address: Internet Address: FAX: Telephone:

Study and public use file release dates unknown.

Comments:

Profile of: Health and Retirement Study (HRS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	rch panel		
Agency:	University of Michigan		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1992	Latest Year Available:	2000
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 2 years
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	
Population(s) S	Surveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling; ✓ Probability Sample	
Ages 5-18		Oversampling	
Pregnant Wor	nen	Groups Oversampled:	blacks, Hispanics, Florida residents
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	residents
Infants		Sample Size:	12600
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1992
☑ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	82 %
Other Population	ons: adults 51-61 in 1992 an	d their spouses	
Data Collection	Methods;	Programs with Participa	nt Identified:
☑ In-Person		□ wc	
☑ Telephone		☑ FSP	
Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		☐ SBP	
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
☐ Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs: Me	eals on Wheels
Performance	test	85	
Record Revie	w	✓ Are eligible non-participe	ants included?
☐ Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:	link with SSA earnings and	benefits	
	employer health insurance a	and pension records	

Profile of: Health and Retirement Study (HRS)

Outcome				
✓ Food Availability/Spending			Physical/Biochemical	☐ Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		Height	
Food Security (full battery)			Weight	Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumference	Capabilities
Limited Hun	98		Skinfold	☐ Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indicators	☑ Cognitive Dev/Perf
Food Intake		V	Health Status/Care	Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality	Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors		☑ Disease	School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng		✓ Health Care Utilization	11 (100) (100) (100)
Immunization	n		General Health	
Other Health	h Related Behavior		☐ Nutritional Status	
Other Outcomes:				
Demographic				
✓ Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income	▼ Household Size
Gender	Educatio	n	□ Poverty	Marital Status
Race	☑ Employm	ent	✓ Welfare	▼ Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		Health Insurance	
Technical Conta	ct:		Juster Thomas	
Organization	Institute for Social Re	esearch,	University of Michigan	
Address:	Room 3250, PO Box	1248		
	Ann Arbor, MI 48106	-5131		
Internet address:	http://www.umich.e	du/~hrsv	vww	
ContactPhone	(734)936-0314	FAX:	(734)647-1186	
Available data format:	online		Cost free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:			
Organization:				
Address:				
Internet Address:				
Telephone:		EA	X:	
	120 121 12101			
Comments:	Some files restricted			

Profile of: National Immunization Survey (NIS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now				
	, a a	Data Available, 110W				
Type of Research	th survey					
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human S	Services				
Time Frame for	Data Collection:					
Start Year:	1994	Latest Year Available:	1999			
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 4 time(s) every year			
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:				
Population(s) Su	urveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling; ✓ Probability Sample				
Ages 5-18		Oversampling				
Pregnant Wom	en	Groups Oversampled:				
Postpartum Wo	men	Other Sample:				
☐ Infants		Sample Size: 12391				
Preschoolers		Sample Year: 1999				
Age 60 +		Response Rate: 80 %				
Other Populatio	ns: parents of children 19-3	5 months, health providers				
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Particip	ant Identified:			
☐ In-Person		✓ wc				
▼ Telephone		FSP				
✓ Mail		☐ NSLP				
Observe		☐ SBP				
☐ Anthropometry	/ physical exam	☐ CACFP				
Physical/Chem	ical Test	Other Programs:				
Performance te	est					
Record Review		✓ Are eligible non-particip	ants included?			
Diary						
☐ Diet Recall						
Other Methods:						

Profile of: National Immunization Survey (NIS)

Outcome						
Food Availabilit	y/Spending		Physica	al/Biochemical	19	Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger	1	☐ Hei	ght		
Food Security (full battery)		1	□We	ight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency	1	Hea	d Circumfere	nce	Capabilities
Limited Hun	98	1	Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf	
Food / Nutrient	Intake	1	Bio	chemical Indic	ators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
☐ Food Intake			Health	Status/Care		Emotional / Social
■ Nutrient Inta	ke	1	_ Mor	tality		Dev/Health
Health-Related	Behaviors	1	Dis	ease		School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng	1] Hea	ith Care Utiliz	ation	
✓ Immunization	n	1	Ger	eral Health		
Other Healti	h Related Behavior	1	Nut	ritional Status		
Other Outcomes:						
Demographic						
Age/Birthday	☑ Region			✓ Income		✓ Household Size
Gender	☑ Educat	ion		✓ Poverty		Marital Status
Race	☐ Employ	ment		Welfare		Functional Status
Ethnicity	☐ Fertility			Health Ins	surance	
Technical Conta	ct:		Robert	Wright		
Organization	DHHS/Public Health	Service				
Address:	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, NCHS					
	6525 Belcrest Road	Room 1170				
	Hyattsville, MD 207	82-2003				
Internet address:	http://www.cdc.go	v/nis				
ContactPhone	(301)436-7007	FAX:				
Available data format:	online			Cost	free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact;			NIS Proje	ect Director	
Organization:	Abt Associates Inc					
Address:	640 N. LaSalle, Suit	e 400				
	Chicago, Illinois 606	10				
Internet Address:	www.nisabt.org					
Telephone:	(312) 867-4400	FAX	: (3	12) 867-4444		
Comments:						

Profile of: Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)

Status:	angoing	Data Available: now	
Type of Resear	ch surveillance		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services	e e	
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1987	Latest Year Available:	2000
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s) every year
Scope:	National	Other Scope:	24 states, DC, NY
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample	
☐ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling	
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	high-risk women, racial/ethnic minorities
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	raciaveornic minorities
✓ Infants		Sample Size:	36670
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1998
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	77 %
Other Population	ons:		
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Particip	ant Identified:
☐ In-Person		✓ wc	
✓ Telephone		▼ FSP	
Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		SBP	
☐ Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACEP	
Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:	
Performance	lest		
Record Review	W	✓ Are eligible non-particip	ants included?
Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:	hirth records linkage		

Profile of: Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS)

Outcome						
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	5	Physical/Biochemical	✓	Birth Outcome	
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		☐ Height			
☐ Food Secur	ity (full battery)		✓ Weight		Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development/	
✓ Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumferer		Emotional Development Capabilities	
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold		Physical Dev/Perf	
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indica	ators	Cognitive DeviPerf	
Food Intake		8	Health Status/Care		Emotional / Social	
✓ Nutrient Inta	ike		☐ Mortality		Dev/Health	
Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease		School Attendance/ Performance	
☑ Breastfeedi	ng		Health Care Utiliza	ition		
☐ Immunization	n		General Health			
✓ Other Healti	h Related Behavior		■ Nutritional Status			
Other Outcomes:	Outcomes vary	by state				
Demographic						
Age/Birthday	☑ Region	1	✓ Income		☐ Household Size	
☑ Gender	☐ Educa	tion	□ Poverty		Marital Status	
Race		yment	✓ Welfare		Functional Status	
Ethnicity .	☐ Fertilit	y	Health Ins	urance		
Technical Conta	ct:		Denise D'Angelo			
Organization	Centers for Diseas	e Control				
Address:	4770 Buford Highway NE					
	MS-K22					
	Atlanta, GA 30341					
Internet address:	www.cdc.gov/ncc	dphp/drh/s	rv_prms			
ContactPhone	770-488-6288	FAX:	770-488-6450			
Available data format:	see note		Cost	see note		
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:					
Organization:						
Address:						
Internet Address:						
Telephone:		F	AX:			
Comments:	Data vary by State	Contact	CDC for data access inf	formation.		

Profile of: Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old (AHEAD)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available: now		
Type of Resear	ch panel			
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Serv	rices		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:			
Start Year:	1993	Latest Year Available:	1996	
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every 2 years	
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:		
Population(s) S	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample		
Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling		
Pregnant Won	nen	Groups Oversampled:	blacks, Hispanics, Florida	
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	residents	
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	8200	
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1994	
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	80 %	
Other Population	ons: persons age 70 and older and	spouses		
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participar	nt Identified	
☑ In-Person		□ wic	it roeitmed.	
☑ Telephone		☑ FSP		
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP		
Observe		□ SBP		
Anthropometr	y / physical exam	CACEP		
☐ Physical/Chen	nical Test	Other Programs:		
Performance	lest	STATE OF STATEMENT		
Record Review	W	✓ Are eligible non-participa	nts included?	
Diary				
☐ Diet Recall				
Other Methods:	match with Medicare, Medicaid, ar	nd SSA files		

Profile of: Survey of Assets and Health Dynamics among the Oldest Old (AHEAD) Outcome ✓ Food Availability/Spending ✓ Physical/Biochemical ■ Birth Outcome Food Sufficiency/Hunger ✓ Height ✓ Physical/Cognitive/ ✓ Weight Food Security (full battery) Emotional Development/ Limited Food Sufficiency ☐ Head Circumference Capabilities Skinfold ✓ Physical Dev/Perf Limited Hunge ☐ Biochemical Indicators ✓ Cognitive Dev/Perf Food / Nutrient Intake Food Intake ✓ Health Status/Care Emotional / Social Dev/Health ☐ Nutrient Intake ✓ Mortality School Attendance/ ✓ Health-Related Behaviors ✓ Disease Performance □ Breastfeeding ▼ Health Care Utilization Immunization General Health Other Health Related Behavior Nutritional Status Other Outcomes: Demographic ✓ Age/Birthday ✓ Region ✓ Income ✓ Household Size Marital Status ✓ Gender Education Poverty ▼ Race Employment ✓ Welfare ▼ Functional Status ✓ Ethnicity ☐ Fertility Health Insurance Robert Willis **Technical Contact:** Organization Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan Address: Room 1300, PO Box 1248 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1248 http://www.umich.edu/~hrswww Internet address: ContactPhone (734)763-6623 FAX: (734)647-1186 Available online Cost free data format: Add'l Data Access Contact: Organization: Address: Internet Address: Telephone: FAX:

Some files restricted

Comments:

Profile of: Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)

Status:	ongoing	Data Available:	
		Data Available.	now
Type of Resear	ch survey		
Agency:	U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services		
Time Frame for	Data Collection:		
Start Year:	1984	Latest Year Avail	lable: 1999
Type of Cycle:	Continuous	Frequency:	time(s) every
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:	participating states
Population(s) S Adults	urveyed/Studied;	Type of Sampling	_
Ages 5-18		Oversampling	
Pregnant Worr	nen	Groups Oversam	pled:
Postpartum W	omen	Other Sample:	
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	100000
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1995
Age 60 +		Response Rate:	80 %
Other Population	ons:		
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with P	articipant Identified;
☐ In-Person		□ wic	
Telephone		FSP	
☐ Mail		☐ NSLP	
Observe		SBP	
☐ Anthropometr	y / physical exam	☐ CACFP	
☐ Physical/Chem	nical Test	Other Programs:	
Performance t	est		
Record Review	N.	✓ Are eligible non	-participants included?
☐ Diary			
☐ Diet Recall			
Other Methods:			

Profile of: Behavior Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)

Outcome				
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	5	Physical/Biochemical	☐ Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger		✓ Height	
Food Security (full battery)			✓ Weight	Physical/Cognitive/ Emotional Development
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		☐ Head Circumference	Capabilities
Limited Hunge			Skinfold	Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		☐ Biochemical Indicators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
Food Intake		E	Health Status/Care	Emotional / Social
✓ Nutrient Inta	ke		☐ Mortality	Dev/Health
Health-Related			✓ Disease	School Attendance Performance
☐ Breastfeedi			✓ Health Care Utilization	
✓ Immunization			✓ General Health	
✓ Other Health	h Related Behavior		■ Nutritional Status	
Other Outcomes:				
Demographic				
Age/Birthday	☑ Region		✓ Income	✓ Household Size
✓ Gender		on	☐ Poverty	✓ Marital Status
Race		ment	☐ Welfare	☐ Functional Status
Ethnicity	✓ Fertility		Health Insurance	
Technical Conta	ct			
Organization	National Center for 6	Chronic Di	sease Prevention and Health Pr	romotion
Address:	4770 Buford Hwy, N	4E		
	Atlanta, GA 30341			
Internet address:	http://www.cdc.gov	/nccdphp	/brfss/ti-docs.htm	
ContactPhone	(770)488-5292	FAX:	(770)488-5974	
Available data format:	online		Cost Free	
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:			
Organization:				
Address:				
Internet Address:		-	AX:	
Telephone:		-	20	
Comments:				

Profile of: National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)

Status:	last in 1996	Data Available: now				
Type of Resear	rch survey					
Agency:	University of North Carolina/U.S. DHHS	1				
Time Frame for	Data Collection:					
Start Year:	1994	Latest Year Available:	1996			
Type of Cycle:	Periodic	Frequency: 1 time(s)	every year			
Scope:	✓ National	Other Scope:				
Population(s) S	surveyed/Studied:	Type of Sampling: Probability Sample				
☑ Ages 5-18		✓ Oversampling				
Pregnant Women		Groups Oversampled:	Puerto Rican, Cuban,			
Postpartum Women		Other Sample:				
☐ Infants		Sample Size:	6500			
Preschoolers		Sample Year:	1996			
☐ Age 60 +		Response Rate:	%			
Other Population	ons: parents and school administrate	ors				
Data Collection	Methods:	Programs with Participa	nt Identified;			
☑ In-Person		☐ wc				
✓ Telephone		FSP				
☐ Mail		NSLP				
☐ Observe		SBP				
☐ Anthropometr	y / physical exam	CACFP				
Physical/Cher	nical Test	Other Programs:				
Performance	test					
Record Revie	w	Are eligible non-participa	ants included?			
☐ Diary						
☐ Diet Recall						
Other Methods	self-administered questionnaire (un	specified)				

Profile of: National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health)

Outcome					
Food Availabilit	y/Spending	☑ Ph	ys/cal/Biochemical		Birth Outcome
Food Sufficience	cy/Hunger	₩.	✓ Height		
☐ Food Secur	ity (full battery)	V	☑ Weight		Physical/Cognitive/
Limited Foo	d Sufficiency		Head Circumfere	nce	Emotional Development Capabilities
Limited Hun	ge		Skinfold		✓ Physical Dev/Perf
Food / Nutrient	Intake		Biochemical Indic	ators	Cognitive Dev/Perf
✓ Food Intake		✓ He	alth Status/Care		☑ Emotional / Social
☐ Nutrient Inta	ke		Mortality		Dev/Health
✓ Health-Related	Behaviors		Disease		School Attendance
☐ Breastfeedi	ng	V	Health Care Utiliza	ation	renomance
☐ Immunization	n	~	General Health		
✓ Other Health	h Related Behavior	V	Nutritional Status		
Other Outcomes:					
Demographic					
☐ Age/Birthday	☐ Region		☐ Income		☐ Household Size
Gender	☐ Educati	on	☐ Poverty		☐ Marital Status
Race	☐ Employ	ment	☐ Welfare		▼ Functional Status
☐ Ethnicity	☐ Fertility		☐ Health Ins	surance	
Technical Conta	ct:	J. Rich	ard Udry		
Organization	University of North (Carolina at Cha	pel Hill		
Address:	123 West Franklin S	št.			
	Chapel Hill, NC 275	14			
Internet address:	http://www.cpc.unc	.edu/addhealt	h		
ContactPhone	(919)966-2829	FAX:			
Available data format:	CD-ROM		Cost	Consult distr	butor
Add'l Data Acces	ss Contact:				
Organization:	Public Use Dataset	Sociometrics (sacio@sacio.com)	1.	
Address:	170 State Street				
	Los Altos, CA 9402	2			
Internet Address:	http://www.socio.c	om			
Telephone:	(800)846-DISK	FAX:			
Comments:					